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PREFACE

This publication presents the information the Texas Commission on
Environmental Quality (TCEQ); formerly the Texas Natural Resource
Conservation Commission, or TNRCC) has prepared on the topic of good
financial management practices for water districts. Formerly, this
information was presented in several different publications:

® the Water District Accounting Manual (TNRCC publication
RG-080, December 1995),

B Annual Audit Report Requirements for Texas Water Districts
(TNRCC publication RG-081, December 1995), and

B various editions of the annual Water District Update (TCEQ
publication PD-003).

In consolidating this information into a single publication, we hope to
make it easier for everyone who needs any part of this body of information
to be sure they have the latest word. However, we realize that bits and
pieces of this information will have to be revised over time. To make this
consolidated publication flexible enough to accommodate those changes,
we have added informative footers at the bottom of each page. These
footers show:

® the short title of the publication
B the publication number

m the date that portion of the publication was last revised (a
“portion” is an individual chapter or appendix)

® the page number

As our resources allow, we will edit this Guide, one portion at a time, to
make it even more readable and user-considerate. When we publish an
edited chapter or appendix, we will enter the new revision date by its entry
in the table of contents as well as in the footer of that chapter or appendix.
You will be able to easily determine whether you have the latest version
of any part of this publication by checking your copy against the table of
contents posted on our Web site: www.tceq.state.tx.us.
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GENERAL FINANCIAL GUIDANCE

Every year, each water district and authority must complete a report on its
financial status. The type of financial report that your district is required to
prepare depends upon your district’s financial activity.

This Water District Financial Management Guide (Guide) provides
standards for a typical district to follow when preparing and reporting on its
annual activities. While the information and examples contained in the Guide
are focused on a small general-law single-purpose district that provides
retail water and wastewater services and uses only governmental fund
accounting, this Guide is applicable to all districts, including large,
multipurpose entities that use proprietary fund accounting. If your district’s
operations are complex or if your district uses proprietary fund accounting,
you may need to adapt the Guide to fit your district’s needs.

The Guide replaces both the Water District Accounting Manual (WDAM,
publication RG-80, 1995 Edition) and the Annual Audit Report Requirements
of Texas Water Districts and Authorities (AARR, publication RG-81, 1995
Edition).

Purpose of This Guide

The Guide is designed to:

®  Provide minimum standards for maintaining your district’s fiscal
records to comply with Texas Water Code (TWC) Section
49.196.

B Provide a reference source for your district when establishing its
accounting system to meet your district’s management needs.

®m Provide the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality’s
(Agency) reporting requirements.

B Provide a reference source for your independent auditor who
must evaluate and report on your district’s internal control
system.

B Instruct your district and its auditor on how to comply with the
annual audit requirements of TWC Chapters 49 or 36 and the
Agency’s Texas Administrative Code Section (Rule) 293.94.

Districts Subject to This Guide

This Guide applies to all districts and authorities created under the Texas
Constitution in either Article 3, Section 52 or Article 16, Section 59 [defined
as a “conservation and reclamation district”] that must comply with TWC
Chapter 49. We have not granted any exceptions to this Guide ’s applicability.

Water District Financial Management Guide
TCEQ publication RG-080 = Revised March 2004 11



The Texas Legislature (Legislature) has defined the terms “water district”
and “district” we use in this publication in TWC Section 49.001. While that
definition does not include a navigation district or port authority, TWC
Section 60.002 does require a navigation district to follow this Guide. The
definition in TWC Section 49.001 excludes a Groundwater Conservation
District (GCD) or Municipal Management District (MMD); however, those
districts may choose to use the Guide to enhance their financial reporting
responsibilities. To find laws specific to GCDs and MMDs, look under
“Exempt from TWC Chapter 49” in the table on page O-6 in Appendix O.

Review Rule 293.94(e) and (f) and the Guide’s Audit Report Requirements
section on page 3-1 for information on the statutory exceptions granted by
the Legislature to preparing an audit.

When we refer to your Board of Directors (Board), we are referring to the
district’s elected or appointed directors, commissioners, or supervisors who
have been charged with the responsibility for guiding the district in fulfilling
the needs for which it was created.

When we refer to your district’s management, we are referring to your
district’s Board of Directors, even though they may have delegated some
duties to the general manager or other district staff.

When we refer to your district’s audit report, we are referring to the
complete audit report package, which may contain the following items in this
order of presentation:

the notarized filing affidavit

your auditor’s opinion letter

your Board’s discussion and analysis

the district’s basic financial statements

the notes to the financial statements

the required supplementary information

our supplementary information, if required

the auditor’s management letter, if required

Legal Status of This Guide

Accounting Principles

TWC Section 49.192 requires your district’s financial statements to be
prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as
adopted by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

The phrase generally accepted accounting principles is a technical
accounting term that encompasses the conventions, rules, and procedures
necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular time. It

Water District Financial Management Guide
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includes not only broad guidelines of general application, but also detailed
practices and procedures. Those conventions, rules, and procedures provide
a standard to measure financial presentations.

Your auditor’s opinion is based upon his judgment of whether:

m the accounting principles selected and applied have general
acceptance

the accounting principles are appropriate in the circumstances

®m the financial statements, including the related notes, are
informative of matters that may affect their use, understanding,
and interpretation

m the information presented in the financial statements is classified
and summarized in a reasonable manner (neither too detailed or
too condensed)

® the financial statements reflect the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that presents the financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows stated within a range of acceptable
limits (limits that are reasonable and practicable to attain in
financial statements).

The determination that a particular accounting principle is generally accepted
can be difficult as no single reference source exists. The sources of
established accounting principles that are generally accepted in the United
States are:

B Level 1: Accounting principles published by a body designated
by the AICPA’s Council to establish such principles (under Rule
203 of the AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct).

B Level 2: Publications of bodies (composed of expert accountants)
that deliberate accounting issues in public forums for the purpose
of establishing accounting principles or describing existing
accounting practices that are generally accepted, provided those
pronouncements have been exposed for public comment and have
been cleared by a body referred to in Level 1 above.

®m Level 3: Publications of bodies, organized by a body referred to
in Level 1 above and composed of expert accountants, that
deliberate accounting issues in public forums for the purpose of
interpreting or establishing accounting principles or describing
existing accounting practices that are generally accepted, or
publications referred to in Level 2 above that have been cleared
by a body referred to in Level 1 above but that have not been
exposed for public comment.

B Level 4: Practices or publications that are widely recognized as
being generally accepted because they represent prevalent
practice in a particular industry or the knowledgeable application
to specific circumstances of pronouncements that are generally
accepted.
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If the accounting treatment of a transaction or an event is not specified in a
publication covered by the AICPA’s Rule 203, your auditor should consider
whether the accounting treatment is specified by another source of
established accounting principles.

GAAP Hierarchy Summary

Nongovernmental Entities State & Local Governments (Districts)

Established Accounting Principles

Level 1 | FASB Statements and GASB Statements and Interpretations,
Interpretations, APB Opinions, | plus AICPA and FASB publications if
and AICPA Accounting made applicable to state and local
Research Bulletins governments by a GASB Statement or

Interpretation

Level 2 | FASB Technical Bulletins, GASB Technical Bulletins and the
AICPA Industry Audit and following publications if specifically
Accounting Guides, and made applicable to state and local
AICPA Statements of Position | governments by the AICPA: AICPA
Industry Audit and Accounting Guides
and AICPA Statements of Positions

Level 3 | Consensus positions of the Consensus positions of the GASB
FASB Emerging Issues Task |Emerging Issues Task Force and
Force and AICPA Practice AICPA Practice Bulletins if specifically

Bulletins made applicable to state and local
governments by the AICPA
Level 4 | AICPA accounting “Q’s and A’s” published by the GASB

interpretations, “Q’s and A’s” | staff as well as industry practices
published by the FASB staff, |widely recognized and prevalent
as well as industry practices
widely recognized and

prevalent

Other Accounting Literature
Other accounting literature, Other accounting literature, including
including FASB Concepts GASB Concepts Statements;
Statements, AICPA Issues publications in Levels 1 through 4 of
Papers; International the hierarchy for nongovernmental
Accounting Standards entities when not specifically made
Committee Statements; applicable to state and local
GASB Statements, governments; FASB Concepts

Interpretations, and Technical | Statements; AICPA Issues Papers;
Bulletins; publications of other | International Accounting Standards
professional associations or | Committee Statements;

regulatory agencies; AICPA | pronouncements of other professional
Technical Practice Aids; and |associations or regulatory agencies [in
accounting textbooks, this case, the TCEQ]; AICPA Technical
handbooks, and articles Practice Aids; and accounting
textbooks, handbooks, and articles

The AICPA recognizes the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) as the standard-setting authority for GAAP for state and local
governments. GASB has designated the National Council on Governmental
Accounting (NCGA) Statements and Interpretations issued before the
formation of GASB to be the authoritative support for determining GAAP for

Water District Financial Management Guide
TCEQ publication RG-080 = Revised March 2004



state and local governments unless they have been superseded by GASB
statements.

NCGA Statement 1, Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting
Principles, issued in 1979, became the financial reporting model for state and
local governments. When GASB was created in 1984 it agreed to reexamine
the financial reporting model. Modifications were made to the model by
various GASB statements and a comprehensive revision was introduced in
1999 with the issuance of GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements—and Management’s Discussion and Analysis—for State and
Local Governments (GASB 34). For more information, refer to the GASB
and AICPA publications listed in Appendix O.

Water Code

TWC Section 49.192 authorizes this Agency to adopt accounting and
auditing manuals. This Guide complies with this directive and is intended to
be an aid to your Board, its employees, and consultants.

Your district’s Board is responsible for maintaining the district’s accounting
system. TWC Section 49.196 requires your district’s fiscal records be
prepared on a timely basis and maintained according to GAAP. The Guide
includes the minimum details of an accounting system necessary to comply
with that statute.

As this Agency and its publications do not set governmental accounting
principles or auditing standards, if there are any inconsistencies with the
AICPA’s standards or principles and this Guide, then the AICPA’s standards
and principles control.

Ultimately, it is your Board’s responsibility, with the help of its contractors,
consultants, and auditor, to be aware of and implement changes set forth in
the statutes, the Agency’s Rules, GAAP, or generally accepted auditing
standards (GAAS).

Legal Environment of Districts
General versus Special Law Districts

Districts derive their core powers and duties from either the various chapters
of the Water Code (depending upon each district’s type) or special laws
enacted by the Legislature. Districts must also follow other laws, including
the Election Code, Government Code, Health and Safety Code, Local
Government Code, Penal Code, Property Code, and Tax Code (Texas
Statutes, Appendix O).

General law districts must follow the TWC Chapter under which they were
created as well as TWC Chapters 49 and 50 which are applicable to most
districts.

Water District Financial Management Guide
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Special law districts have been either created by or altered by an act of the
Legislature. Each special law district must refer to its enabling legislation as
amended to determine its unique powers and duties. In cases of conflict, a
district’s special law provisions typically overrule the general law provisions
(TWC Section 49.002).

When TWC Chapters 49, 50, and a district’s general law chapters are silent,
a district should refer to the other state laws as well as the district’s bond
resolutions and other legal restrictions to determine that district’s legal
circumstances. This Guide does not provide guidance for legal
compliance. Your Board should contact its attorney who can interpret the
laws and other restrictions according to your district’s unique situation.

Rule 293.91(b) states that each general law district should comply with the
reporting requirements provided in the TWC chapter under which it was
created. A special law district may be subject to unique reporting
requirements of the special act under which it was created or amended.

Continuing Right of Supervision

TWC Section 12.081 and Rule 293.3 clarify that the powers and duties of all
districts and authorities created under the Texas Constitution in either Article
3, Section 52 or Article 16, Section 59 are subject to the continuing right of
supervision by the Agency, including but not limited to:

B requiring audits or other financial information, inspections,
evaluations, and engineering reports

B issuing rules necessary to supervise the districts and authorities

Financial Requirements

TWC Section 49.051 establishes that a district is governed by its Board.

TWC Section 49.057 makes your Board, not its consultants or employees,
responsible for the management of your district’s affairs.

Annual Budget

Regardless of whether your district uses governmental fund accounting or
proprietary fund accounting, Rule 293.97(b) requires your Board to adopt an
operating budget before the fiscal year begins. Additionally, GASB requires
your Board to annually adopt a comprehensive operating budget
(Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting
Standards, Section 1700, paragraph 101, “The Budget and Budgetary
Accounting”).

Amending the Budget. Y our Board may make budget amendments from time
to time at its discretion. The adopted budget and any subsequent amendments
must be passed and approved by a resolution of your Board and must be
made part of the Board’s meeting minutes.
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Is It Appropriated? For general law districts the adopted budget is not a
spending limitation (a legally restricted appropriation); however, your Board
may adopt rules to limit the spending authority of the district’s directors and
its general manager. These adopted limitations should be recorded in your
district’s manual (District Manual, page 1-18).

We Do Not Need a Copy of the Interim Budget. While our rules require your
Board to adopt a budget for the upcoming year before the start of your
district’s fiscal year, we do not want or require you to send us a copy of your
district’s adopted budget. Your district’s operating budget, as adopted and as
amended, is required to be included in your district’s audit report which is
submitted for our review.

External Review. If your district provides wholesale potable water and
wastewater services, TWC Section 49.200 requires your Board to adopt a
program that provides your wholesale customers an opportunity to review
and comment on your district’s budget as it applies to their services before
your Board can adopt the budget.

Purpose of the Budget. Your district’s operating fund budget should serve
as a planning tool. Depending on the district’s development, plans should be
implemented to determine your district’s growth rate, the age of'its facilities,
all possible revenue sources, and a method to build a reserve for unplanned
expenses.

Who Is Involved in the Budget Process? The following list explains some
of the many roles your Board may request of its consultants.

B Bookkeeper. Coordinates the budget’s preparation as he has the
prior years’ financial information and is responsible for providing
the comparisons to your Board.

B Artorney. Usually works with the district’s developer to establish
and organize your district. Your attorney has input on alternate
funding methods and pending elections or litigation and should
be knowledgeable about the many laws affecting districts.

®m  FEngineer. Has knowledge about your district from its inception
and may make recommendations about major repairs and capital
improvements.

®  Operator. By working in the district on a daily basis, he has
knowledge of pending repairs and system maintenance needs.

®  Tax Collector. Has knowledge of property values in the district
if a maintenance tax is needed.

B Financial Advisor. Should know if the district’s operating reserve
can support a good bond rating.

®  [nsurance Agent. Can provide information on policy coverage.
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Selecting a Fiscal Year

TWC Section 49.158 and Rule 293.97 require your Board to adopt by
resolution your district’s fiscal year within 30 calendar days of becoming
financially active. Your Board should consider the following issues when
selecting its fiscal year:

B The Business of the District. Consider the needs of your
district’s principal business activity and your district’s interaction
with other entities [the local Agency watermaster, other districts,
a primary government (a city), or a component unit].

B The Effect on Tax Collection Reporting. 1f the district assesses
taxes on October 1, then a September 30 fiscal year end would
allow a full 12 months of collections to be reported in your
district’s audit report.

B Your Auditor’s Workload. Y our auditor will have certain months
of the year with a very heavy workload (tax season). Your
district may want to set its fiscal year end at a date which will
allow your auditor to timely perform your district’s audit.

®  Your Bookkeeper’s Workload. 1f your district uses a contracted
bookkeeping service, your Board should also consider the number
of year-end closings that the bookkeeper must complete that
month for their clients to ensure that your bookkeeper can be
responsive to your auditor’s needs.

TWC Section 49.158 allows a district to change its fiscal year end once
during a 24-month period. Your Board then has 30 calendar days to notify us
of an adopted or changed fiscal year end. If your Board has changed the
district’s fiscal year, you can prepare and submit a combined audit report to
cover a fiscal period not to exceed 18 months.

Customer Deposits

TWC Section 49.212 allows your district to charge a deposit for any services
or facilities that it provides. That section also allows your Board to decide
whether it will allow the customers’ deposit to earn interest at a rate
determined by your Board. Most districts have chosen not to pay interest on
their customers’ deposits.

Your district cannot condition its services to a new customer on the payment
of an outstanding charge incurred by a prior customer unless a legal
relationship between the two customers causes the new customer to be liable
for the debts of the other, or unless the new customer had agreed in writing
to be responsible for the charges incurred by the previous customer. The
prior customer’s deposit must be used to recover any amounts owed. If that
deposit does not cover the outstanding balance, your district’s only recourse
is to pursue the nonpaying customer.

We recommend that your Board annually evaluate the district’s required
deposit to ensure that the current deposit is sufficient to cover a typical
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unpaid account or damage to the district’s facilities depending upon your
district’s recent historical experience.

Insurance

There are no general law insurance coverage requirements for a district
unless mentioned in your district’s protective bond covenants. When
considering your district’s current coverage, we encourage your Board to
annually evaluate your district’s:

B potential risks
B financial ability to cover any losses, damage, and/or lawsuits

Bond Coverage

TWC Section 49.055 states that, before beginning to perform the duties of
office, each director must execute a $10,000 bond conditioned on the faithful
performance of that director’s duties.

TWC Section 49.057 compels your Board to require its directors, employees,
and consultants who routinely collect, pay, or handle district funds to furnish
a bond, payable to the district in an amount that your Board determines to be
sufficient, to safeguard the district’s assets. Your Board can also require a
bond of its other consultants who do not routinely collect, pay, or handle
district monies. That bond must be conditioned on the faithful performance
of that person’s duties and on the accounting for all of the district’s funds and
property. Your Board is allowed to pay the premium on the required surety
bonds out of any available district funds, including bond proceeds.

Revenue Notes

TWC Section 49.153 and Rule 293.80 require Agency approval on most
revenue notes executed by your district for a term longer than three years.

Developer Reimbursement

Rule 293.70 addresses the minimum procedures to be performed by your
auditor when preparing his agreed upon procedures reimbursement report to
the Board. Refer to this Guide’s Appendix M and the Developer
Reimbursements section of the Accounting Chapter on page 2-26 for more
information.

Additionally, Rule 293.95(b) requires all districts to maintain sufficient
records to determine the amounts paid by a developer or by any other parties
on the district’s behalf, including all contingent and actual liabilities. Those
third-party payments are required to be disclosed by your district in its audit
report, financial report, or financial dormancy affidavit.
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Signing Checks

TWC Section 49.151 requires checks, drafts, orders, or other instruments to
be signed by either:
B a majority of your district’s directors

® the general manager, treasurer, bookkeeper, or other district
employee if authorized by Board resolution

Unclaimed Property

An unclaimed deposit is not free money for your district. Unclaimed
customer deposits and overpayments and employee wages and workers’
compensation benefits remain the property of your district’s customer or its
employee under the Texas Unclaimed Property Law. These deposits,
overpayments, and benefits are considered abandoned after a three-year
period if there has been no contact from your district’s former customer or
employee. The Comptroller of Public Accounts is responsible for tracking
and maintaining these deposits (Property Code Chapters 72 through 75). See
this Guide’s Appendix O (Texas Statutes) for more information.

Duty to Audit

TWC Sections 49.191 or 36.153 and Rule 293.94 require your Board to have
the district’s fiscal accounts and records audited each year. The audit must
be performed by either a certified public accountant (CPA) or a public
accountant in good standing with the Texas State Board of Public
Accountancy (Appendix O). However, a district is exempt from the audit
requirement if it meets the criteria for filing a financial dormancy affidavit
or an annual financial report (Refer to Audit Report Requirements on

page 3-1).

Your district’s audit report must be completed within 120 calendar days
after the close of your district’s fiscal year (TWC Section 49.191). This
allows your Board 15 calendar days to hold the required board meeting,
approve the report, AND file the audit report with this Agency (TWC Section
49.194).

Additionally, Rule 293.91 requires your Board to submit a certified copy of
any audit report on the district’s affairs (other than its annual financial audit
under TWC Section 49.191) within 15 days of its completion.

Your Auditor’s Opinion

Your auditor will prepare a report on his audited financial statements. The
Independent Auditor’s Report will contain your auditor’s opinion on the
district’s financial statements taken as a whole. The four audit opinions are:
B unqualified

m  qualified

®m  adverse

m  disclaimed

Water District Financial Management Guide
TCEQ publication RG-080 = Revised March 2004



An unqualified opinion is commonly called a clean opinion. Your auditor is
stating that the district’s financial statements fairly present in all material
respects the district’s financial position according to GAAP. Your auditor
may also need to add explanatory language to his Independent Auditor’s
Report on the district’s financial statements that do not affect his unqualified
opinion.

A qualified opinion is used when your auditor must state that, except for __
the district’s financial statements fairly present in all material
respects the district’s financial position according to GAAP. Your auditor
might issue a qualified opinion following a natural disaster (flooding of the
district’s offices and the resulting destruction of the board meeting minutes)
because there is a lack of sufficient competent evidential matter that has led
the auditor to conclude that he cannot express an unqualified opinion and he
has also concluded not to disclaim an opinion. When an auditor expresses a
qualified opinion he will disclose his substantive reasons in an explanatory
paragraph to the Independent Auditor’s Report.

Your auditor will issue an adverse opinion when the district’s financial
statements do not fairly present the district’s financial position according to
GAAP.

If your auditor does not express an opinion on the district’s financial
statements, by default he is issuing a disclaimer of opinion.

The Single Audit Act, OMB Circular A-133, and Federal Grants

The Single Audit Act requires a district with a federal grant in excess of
$500,000 for fiscal periods ending after 12/31/2003 to prepare a “yellow
book™ audit following generally accepted government auditing standards
(GAGAS, Appendix P). Your Board should be aware that, for a yellow book
audit, your auditor is prohibited from serving as your district’s bookkeeper
under the national independence restrictions. While this Agency does not
require the submission of a yellow book audit, our review process for
districts receiving federal funds will include a verification that a yellow book
audit was performed when necessary.

Where to File Your Audit Report

TWC Section 49.194 requires most districts to file a copy of their audit report
with the Agency within 135 calendar days after the district’s fiscal year end.
That section also requires each district to submit an executed (notarized)
filing affidavit (Appendix N1, on page N-2) with its audit report.

Please note that the Legislature has statutorily fixed this filing criteria. The
statutes do not give this Agency the authority to extend your district’s filing
date or to allow your district to substitute other financial documents for
those specified in the law.
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Under TWC Section 49.194(b) if your Board refuses to approve the audit
report, your Board must send us a copy of that report and the Board’s
statement explaining the reasons for the Board’s failure to approve the report.
This Agency’s response will take into consideration the Board’s stated
circumstances.

In August 1994, we revised the Filing Affidavit (form TCEQ-0723) to
incorporate information contained in the Board Certificate. A Board
Certificate cannot be submitted in exchange for the required notarized Filing
Affidavit. And, in September 1995, we revised the Filing Affidavit to reflect
the legislative change that removed the requirement calling for a copy of the
district’s audit report to be filed with the local city or county clerk’s office.
We request that you file only one (1) copy of your district’s audit report and
filing affidavit with this Agency as we will recycle the extra copies.

The TWC currently exempts most GCDs and MMDs from the requirement
to file their audited financial statements with us; however, we request that
these districts send us a courtesy copy that we can make available to the
public.

Additionally, districts with outstanding bonded indebtedness are required to
file a copy of their audit report with the State Information Depository, which
the Governor’s May 25, 1995 Executive Order GWB 95-4 has designated as
the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas (MAC). Refer to Appendix O for
MAC’s mailing address.

If your Board is considering issuing bonded debt within the next two fiscal
years, your district must file a copy of'its audit or annual financial report with
the MAC. See this Guide’s Chapter on Auditing Guidance and TWC Chapter
49’s Subchapter G (Audit of Districts) for more information on your district’s
financial reporting, auditing, and filing requirements.

Your district must retain at least one (1) copy of the financial report for its
records according to the Local Government Records Act (Local Government
Code Chapters 201 through 205). Your copy of the district’s financial report
is the district’s original record. Each district is responsible for maintaining

an original, permanent record of its financial report in the district’s official
files.

In the 78th Regular Legislative Session House Bill 1541 revised TWC
Section 49.194 to give your Board the option of electronically submitting
your district’s audit report with this Agency. If you choose to submit the
audit report electronically, prepare a copy in Adobe Portable Document
Format (PDF) and send it by e-mail to utildist@tceq.state.tx.us. For more
information on PDF files, refer to:

www.tceq.state.tx.us/AC/help/site/help pdf.html
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Keep these points in mind:

®m  Put “District Audit” in the subject line of your e-mail.

®  Put your name and telephone number in your message so we can
call you if necessary.

m  Make sure that your e-mail comes from an address that can
receive replies, because we will reply to confirm that we received
your audit report.

B [fyou do not receive a confirming reply worded something like:

Thank you for submitting the [name of your district] District’s [month
vear] audit report and related filing affidavit, which we received on [date].

then please contact us. There might have been a problem with your
electronic submission. For example, there is a limit on the size of e-mails
we can receive. If your files are larger than this limit (which changes as
technology improves), you will not receive our confirmation e-mail. Call
us at 512/239-4691 or e-mail us to ask about alternative methods of
submitting your report.

Our Address

One (1) copy of your district’s audit report (including the completed filing
affidavit) must be sent in PDF format by e-mail to utildist@tceq.state.tx.us
or in hard copy to this address:

Texas Commission on Environmental Quality
Districts Review Team, MC 152

Utilities and Districts Section

Water Supply Division

PO Box 13087

Austin, Texas 78711-3087

Filing Deadlines

According to TWC Section 49.194(a), a district must submit an audit report
to the executive director for filing within 135 calendar days after its fiscal
year end. Or, according to TWC Section 49.198(c), a qualified district can
submit a financial report within 45 calendar days after its fiscal year end. Or,
according to TWC Section 49.197(d), a qualified district can submit a
financial dormancy affidavit by January 31st following the year of financial
inactivity (Refer to Audit Report Requirements on page 3-1). We have not
been granted authority by the Legislature to extend this deadline.

Consult our Web site for a list of the financial reporting due dates (TCEQ
publication RG-378) which reflects the date the Agency must receive your
district’s report. We do not allow you to extend your statutory filing deadline
by accounting for the report’s postmarked date (the date that the report was
placed into the U.S. Postal System). Please allow enough time for the report
to arrive at the TCEQ’s mailing address by the statutory due date. The due
dates on our web site have been adjusted to account for days when the actual
statutory due date falls on a weekend and/or a holiday.
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Required Policies

TWC Section 49.199 requires districts to adopt certain administrative
policies and a code of ethics. An example of these policies is included in
Appendix J.

Recommended Practices

We encourage your Board to routinely evaluate the services provided by each
of your consultants to ensure that your district’s needs are being met. The
Board should consider how often it issues Requests for Proposals (RFP) on
its consultants. We recommend that your Board issue RFPs on all of its
consultants (including your auditor) every fifth year so your Board and its
customers can be satisfied that your district is getting the best return for its
monies from the most qualified professional service providers.

TWC Section 49.057 requires districts to follow the Professional Services
Procurement Act (Government Code, Chapter 2254, Subchapter A) when
seeking services for a licensed or registered professional, including:
attorney (required under TWC Section 49.057)

financial advisor (required under TWC Section 49.057)

CPA

architect

landscape architect

land surveyor

professional engineer

state certified or state licensed real estate appraiser

Your Board cannot select or award a contract to these professional service
providers on the basis of competitive bids. It must make the selection and
award:

B on the basis of demonstrated competence and qualifications to
perform the services

m for a fair and reasonable price

We suggest that your Board rank the proposals according to technical factors.
You can also compare the estimated cost against the estimated hours. An
unreasonably low estimate of hours or cost may be a reason for rejection.

Refer to Appendix G for a sample RFP on your district’s independent
auditor. Also, see the Consultant Selection section below for information on
how to select your district’s auditor. The sample RFP is designed to ensure
that all proposals received will be in compliance with the Professional
Services Procurement Act.

Water District Financial Management Guide
TCEQ publication RG-080 = Revised March 2004



Refusing Cash

While your district can refuse the offer of cash as payment for a utility bill
it cannot turn off the customer’s services if the customer cannot or does not
offer an alternative method of payment. Your Board should be willing to
consider requests for an exception to its ‘no cash’ policy, especially from an
elderly person who has a restricted bank account, which allows only a limited
number of personal checks to be issued during his bank’s billing statement
period before he incurs an excess check charge. Your district’s policies
should not cause an unreasonable economic hardship upon its citizens.

Under TWC Section 49.057 your Board has the authority to manage all of the
district’s affairs, including the authority to make reasonable policy
exceptions to accommodate certain customers’ limitations. Y our Board might
offer the alternative of paying two months of bills by one check, with no late
payment penalty for an elderly person with a restricted checking account.

Excess Bond Money

While your district is obligated to levy only enough taxes to retire its debt,
your district could have bond monies remaining after a bond series has
matured due to the receipt of delinquent tax payments. According to Attorney
General Opinion JM-142 (Appendix O), if your district is not affected by
any other legal requirements for the disposition of the surplus money, there
are two ways your Board can dispose of these funds:

® refund the excess to the taxpayers

m if a refund is impractical, transfer the monies to your district’s
general operating fund

Refer to Use of Surplus Funds on page K-3 for information on the use of
surplus funds during (not after) a bond’s life cycle.

We recommend the Board seek the advice of its attorney or bond counsel to
determine whether any other legal requirements exist that would affect how
your district can dispose of its excess bond money.

Consultant Selection

While the following paragraphs focus on your Board’s relationship with its
CPA, many of the factors discussed below can be applied to your other
professional service providers after your district has issued its RFPs.

When you receive proposals from various auditing firms, your Board should
rank them according to each firm’s individual qualifications. Your Board
must make its selection on the basis of demonstrated competence and
qualifications to perform the services. Remember to also compare each firm’s
estimated cost based upon estimated hours and the experience level of the
staffinvolved. We recommend that your Board request the candidates present
their written proposals at a regular board meeting and be available to answer
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any questions the directors might have. This in-person meeting is helpful in
evaluating how well a CPA (and other consultants) can communicate with
your Board on complex issues.

Your Board cannot negotiate the proposals received by an attorney, an
auditor, or most other service providers. Those proposals stand as submitted.
If your Board engages architectural, engineering, or land surveying services
it is required to negotiate the costs and other terms with the chosen qualified
firm (Government Code, Chapter 2254). When your Board cannot come to
an agreement with its engineer, architect, or land surveyor, your Board must
formally end its negotiations with that candidate and select the next most
highly qualified service provider and try to negotiate a contract with that
candidate. Continue the selection and negotiation process until a contract is
entered into.

Engagement Letter

Make sure your auditor’s Engagement Letter clearly confirms the terms
agreed upon and provides sufficient information about the scope of the audit
that will be performed on your district as this will prevent misunderstandings.
Unless your Board has hired its independent auditor to perform a specific
type of audit, your auditor will not be performing a fraud audit (actively
searching the district’s records for evidence of fraud); rather he will prepare
a standard financial audit where he will determine his ‘level of comfort” and
may look at a specific number of transactions, all transactions during a
specific period of time, or transactions over a set dollar (threshold) amount
during the course of his review of the district’s financial condition.

The Engagement Letter is your auditor’s formal communication with his
client (your Board) in which he explains the terms of his audit. Your Board
should carefully review the auditor’s Engagement Letter as this letter
documents your auditor’s understanding about what your Board has asked
him to do.

The Engagement Letter or other written documentation from the auditor
should include information on the basis for his fee. The Engagement Letter
is not a binding contract for the audit’s total cost. Ethics rules prevent your
CPA from guaranteeing the total cost of the audit by agreement with his
client.

Audit Committee

To ensure good communication exists between your Board and its auditor,
your Board should designate an audit committee made up of one or two
directors to be the auditor’s primary contact. If the auditor determines that
the actual cost of the audit may exceed the estimate, he should communicate
this situation to your district’s audit committee who will bring any matters
before the entire Board for its consideration and possible action at its next
board meeting. Your Board may want to request a detailed listing of the
audit’s costs for its review.
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How Your Auditor Audits

Your auditor will perform an intensive review of the district’s accounting
records, systems, and controls to test its compliance with state law, its bond
resolutions, and GAAP. The audit involves reviewing your district’s files,
contracts, and board meeting minutes to verify the chosen transactions. He
may look at a set number of transactions, all transactions during a set period
of time, or transactions over a specific dollar amount and will exercise
independent judgment to:

B Test customer billings for compliance with your district’s rates;

B Review construction disbursements to determine whether and
how the developer and other parties shared costs;

Test the collection of interest earned on investments;

Determine whether the district is receiving all appropriate
revenues;

Examine and analyze sources of income and disbursements;
Analyze the district’s bonded indebtedness;
Review the district’s accounts receivable and payable;

Analyze the systems and controls used by the district’s
consultants;

Evaluate the district’s accounting system;
Review the board meeting minutes;

Review the district’s contracts and agreements;

Examine bond sale proceeds placed in escrow and determine if
the escrowed funds were segregated and on deposit throughout
the fiscal period or if they were disbursed; and

®m  Confirm compliance with state laws.

As your district’s audit involves many tests of selected transactions and
physical or written verification of some transactions, your auditor may
question all of your district’s consultants to determine that the accounting
records are accurate and properly documented and all appropriate disclosures
have been made.

While your auditor is aware that embezzlement can and does occur, it can be
difficult to detect. Your Board cannot rely on the district’s audit for fraud
detection. Any questionable transaction noted by the auditor will be brought
to the attention of your district’s audit committee and/or the Board.

When conducting your district’s audit, your auditor will address different
interests from varying perspectives. Your auditor will review the district’s
records and accounting systems and suggest improvements to the Board, if
any are noted during this process. He will examine compliance with the
district’s bond resolutions and the preparation of required reports. To meet
these multiple objectives and best serve his public function, your auditor
must maintain a professional independence from your district.

Water District Financial Management Guide
TCEQ publication RG-080 = Revised March 2004 117



Your auditor will form a professional opinion on your district’s financial
statements. His opinion will not state that the district’s financial statements
are absolutely accurate. Your auditor will report on the district’s financial
statements “taken as a whole” and not on individual items within the
financial statements. The information presented in the district’s annual report
is your Board’s representation. Your auditor will present the annual report to
your Board for its review before your auditor issues his final report. Your
auditor will report all questionable transactions that he is aware of to your Board.

Your district’s annual report may be included as part of the “official
statement” used in the district’s bond rating application and bond sale
disclosure materials.

District Manual

We recommend your Board adopt a manual to address your district’s unique
procedural, administrative, and accounting practices. We recommend that
your District Manual include information on limitations to each director’s
and the general manager’s spending authority. Your Manual should also
address your district’s policies and limitations on the use of commercial
transportation. If your Board has elected to provide its directors with the
district’s credit card, we recommend your Manual include clear limitations
and documentation standards to limit each director’s liability and to control
opportunities for unauthorized expenditures. This Guide is not intended to
replace, but to supplement, any manuals adopted by your Board.

Management Issues

1-18

Director Fees

TWC Section 49.060 was revised by House Bill 3214 during the 78th
Regular Legislative Session to allow most boards to pay their directors a fee
of office for each day a director spent performing his duties, which are
defined in the Bill as participating in board or committee meetings and other
activities involving substantive deliberation of district business or
participation in related educational programs.

That section caps the fees of office at $150 per day and requires your Board
to set its own cap (up to $7,200) by resolution on the total annual fees of
office your district’s directors can receive during the district’s fiscal year. In
Rule 293.97(a) we have defined a district’s annual financial statutory
limitation as the fiscal year adopted and used for reporting the district’s
financial activities. Refer to TSI-8 on page N-29 for reporting clarification
about the director fees.

Also, at your Board’s discretion, a director may be reimbursed for his actual
expenses reasonably and necessarily incurred while engaging in activities on
your district’s behalf. We recommend that your district set a policy to ensure
that sufficient documentation is submitted to provide an audit trail of the
director’s actual expenses. The use of a district’s credit card should be
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limited to prevent a director or district employee from abusing this tool and
circumventing the Board’s formal approval process for district expenditures.

House Bill 3214 also:

m clarified what director activities are not eligible as a fee of office

® removed the option that had allowed a director to receive per
diems instead of fees of office

If a majority of the directors during an open public board meeting turn down
your fee of office or expense reimbursement request, the majority decision of
the Board rules. There is no guarantee of payment, nor is there a guaranteed
fee of office amount. While the Legislature has authorized a fee of office of
up to $150 per day and up to $7,200 per fiscal year for each day’s
substantive performance (defined in TWC Section 49.060), your Board can
restrict these amounts by setting a lower per day or per fiscal year cap. These
restrictions should be recorded in your District Manual (District Manual,
page 1-18).

Before a director can be paid a fee of office that director must submit his
verified statement along with a general description of the duties he has
performed for each day of service. We encourage your Board to define the
elements necessary for reimbursement, including a descriptive statement of
the services performed by the director.

If you and another board member attended your district’s audit committee
meeting with your auditor, and a third district director met with your
engineer on that same day, and each of you filed a statement stating the
actual date of service (11/10/2003) and a general description “attended a
meeting,” a review of the district’s records would show that three out of the
district’s five directors (a majority of the Board) “attended a meeting” on the
same day in November 2003. This has caused questions about whether a
violation of the Open Meetings Act has occurred. Please ensure that your
verified statement’s description provides sufficient detail to ensure that no
questions will occur about whether a quorum of your Board met without
proper notice.

Director Qualifications

Each district must refer to its specific TWC chapter to determine its
directors’ qualification requirements. For an Agency appointment, Rule
293.32 applies.

Director Removal

The only way to remove a director is either to prove that the director is
disqualified from service under TWC Section 49.052(a) or, if that director
has missed at least half of the district’s regular meetings scheduled during the
prior 12 months, under TWC Section 49.052(g) the remaining board
members by unanimous vote may remove a board member; however, the
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removed director can petition this Agency for reinstatement under Rule
293.35. There are no recall election provisions to allow your district’s voters
to recall a director.

Director Relationships

We commonly receive calls about whether a director is disqualified because
of some relationship with one of his relatives. TWC Section 49.052
disqualifies a director that is related within the third degree of affinity
(marriage) or consanguinity (blood) to: a developer of property in the district;
any other member of the Board; or, the manager, engineer, attorney, or other
person providing professional services to the district. With few exceptions,
relatives cannot serve on the same district’s Board. The degrees of
relationship are defined in Government Code Chapter 573.

That said, TWC Section 49.052 does not apply to special water authorities
(defined in TWC Section 49.001), a district defined in TWC Section
49.181(h)(4), or a district whose principal function is to provide irrigation
water to agricultural lands or to provide nonpotable water for any purpose.
When in doubt we encourage your Board to seek the advice of your district’s
attorney.

Continuing to Serve

A director continues to perform the duties of his office under Article 16,
Section 17 of the Texas Constitution until his successor has qualified for
office (Attorney General Opinion JC-6; Appendix O).

While TWC Section 49.211 grants a district the functions, powers, and rights
that will permit it to accomplish the purposes for which it was created, a
district “may exercise only such powers as have been expressly delegated to
it by the Legislature or which exist by clear and unquestioned implication.”
Tri-City Fresh Water Supply Dist. No. 2 v. Mann, 142 S.W.2d 945, 946 (Tex.
1940). Implied powers are those that are ‘indispensable to the ...
accomplishment of the purposes’ for which the political subdivision was
created; powers ‘merely convenient’ or ‘useful’ cannot be implied and may
not be assumed by the political subdivision. /d. at 947 (Attorney General
Opinion JC-202; Appendix O).

Texas courts narrowly construe enabling statutes holding that districts have
only the power to do those things that are specifically stated or implied by the
statutes. If your Board cannot find clear authority for a specific action or
power, we encourage your Board to seek the advice of its attorney. If your
Board does not have an attorney, we strongly encourage your Board to retain
one that is knowledgeable in water district law. It’s true: An ounce of
prevention is worth a pound of cure.
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Disconnections

TWC Section 49.212(c) allows your district to discontinue any or all
facilities or services to prevent an abuse or to enforce payment of an unpaid
charge, fee, or rental due the district, including taxes that have been
delinquent for six months or more.

If your district provides only retail sewer services and it needs to enforce a
delinquent account, upon request by your Board and subject to the existence
of an agreement, another district can disconnect its water service to that
customer. Rule 291.88(e) states where sewer service is provided by one
retail public utility (Appendix P) and water service is provided by another
retail public utility, the retail public utility that provides the water service
shall disconnect water service to a customer who has not paid undisputed
sewer charges:

® if requested by the sewer service provider, AND

B if an agreement exists between the two retail public utilities
regarding such disconnection

Open Meetings
The Law

TWC Section 49.064 requires your district to hold “such regular and special
meetings as may be necessary for the proper conduct of the district’s
business.” Government Code Chapter 551 contains the Open Meetings Act.
TWC Section 49.063 states “neither failure to provide notice of a regular
meeting nor an insubstantial defect in notice of any meeting shall affect the
validity of any action taken at the meeting.”

Handbook

The Office of the Attorney General has produced an Open Meetings
Handbook that is a very useful reference source if you need more information
on this Act (Appendix O).

Quorum

TWC Section 49.053 states that a majority of the Board makes up a
meeting’s quorum, and the agreement of the majority of your Board is
sufficient for transacting the district’s business. So if your Board is made up
of five directors, three directors must be present to establish a quorum before
your Board can meet and the unanimous agreement of all three directors
present at that meeting is needed to transact your district’s business.

TWC Section 49.064 clarifies that a meeting of less than a quorum of your
Board (a committee meeting) is not subject to the Open Meetings Act’s
requirements.
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Violations

The Open Meetings Act provides civil remedies and criminal penalties for
violations of its provisions. Refer to that Act for more information.

District courts have original jurisdiction over criminal violations of the Open
Meeting Act as misdemeanors involving official misconduct. Complaints
about possible violations should be presented to your local district attorney
or criminal district attorney. Neither the Attorney General’s Office nor this
Agency is authorized to enforce the Open Meetings Act.

Open Records

1-22

The Law

TWC Section 49.065 and Rule 293.95 requires your Board to keep a
complete account of all meetings and proceedings and to preserve its
minutes, contracts, records, notices, accounts, receipts, and other records in
a safe place. Your district must comply with the Public Information Act
(formerly called the Open Records Law; Government Code Chapter 552) and
with the record retention provisions in Local Government Code Subtitle C
(Chapters 201 through 205).

Rule 293.95 and TWC Section 49.196 allow your district’s auditor to remove
the District’s fiscal records to record the district’s fiscal affairs and prepare
the audit report.

Although the public is allowed to inspect and make copies of the district’s
records under the Public Information Act, they may not remove records from
your district’s office. The Public Information Act restricts you from
questioning the requestor except to establish proper identification or, when
a large amount of information has been requested you can discuss how the
scope of the request might be narrowed; otherwise, you are not allowed to
inquire about the purposes for which the information will be used.

Handbook

The Attorney General’s Office (Appendix O) has produced a Public
Information Handbook if you need more information on the Public
Information Act.

Assistance

Contact the Texas Building and Procurement Commission at (512) 475-2497
for questions on the allowed charges for providing public information.

The Attorney General’s Office maintains an Open Government Hotline (toll-
free at (877) 673-6839) that can provide assistance to your district’s Board
in informally resolving complaints and misunderstandings.
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Violations

The Public Information Act provides civil remedies and criminal penalties
for violations of its provisions. Refer to that Act for more information.

This Agency is not authorized to enforce the Public Information Act.
Complaints about possible violations should be presented to your local
district attorney or county attorney.

Maintenance of Administrative Records
The Law

Districts are subject to the Public Information Act which reads, in part, “it is
the policy of this state that each person is entitled, unless otherwise expressly
provided by law, at all times to complete information about the affairs of
government and the official acts of public officials and employees,” and
public information means “information that is collected, assembled, or
maintained under a law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of
official business by a governmental body.” Proper maintenance of your
district’s administrative records is important to ensure your district’s
compliance with the Public Information Act and the Local Government
Records Act (Local Government Code Chapters 201 through 205).

Records Management Program

The Local Government Records Act requires an active and continuing
program for the creation, maintenance, and management of your district’s
records. Your district records should include:

B all accounting records

® all engineering records

® all records which involve bonds, taxes, contracts and insurance
documents

inventory and cost records
legal records and documents
payroll and related personnel records

all purchasing and receiving records

Your district should maintain a retention schedule so it can destroy non-
useful records on a systematic basis.

Assistance

The Texas State Library and Archives Commission’s (TSLAC) State and
Local Records Management Division’s staff (Appendix O) can assist your
district in its efforts to comply with the records management laws. The
TSLAC has issued records retention schedules applicable to districts. Their
schedules state the retention period required by federal or state law, or court
ruling. Refer to Appendix F for our recommended retention schedule.
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Other Requirements

Filing Information

Rule 293.92 and TWC Section 49.455 require specific financial and technical
information be filed with this Agency and your district’s county clerk,
including the:

m district’s complete and accurate legal description and a map or
plat of the district’s boundaries

B most recent rate of district taxes

date the district was confirmed, if required

®m total amount of bonds outstanding that have been approved by the
district’s voters

B total initial principal amount of all district bonds payable in whole or in
part by taxes which have been previously issued and remain outstanding

m  district’s complete Notice to Purchasers form required under TWC
Section 49.452

We encourage you to seek the advice of your district’s attorney if your Board
is not sure whether TWC Section 49.452 or Rule 293.92 applies to your
district.

Dissolution

Rule 293.92(1)(K)(vi) requires your Board to file a statement of dissolution
and provide this Agency with a copy of the document evidencing the
effective date upon the district’s dissolution, annexation, or consolidation. If
your district has prepared an audit report through the dissolution date, we
would appreciate receiving a copy of that final closeout report.

CCN

TWC Section 49.215(d) exempts a district from the requirement to hold a
Certificate of Convenience and Necessity (CCN) as a precondition for
providing retail water or sewer service to any customer or service area. This
subsection does not authorize a district to provide services within an area
certified by another retail public utility or within the boundaries of another
district without that district’s consent, unless the district has a valid CCN to
provide services to that area.

If your district has a CCN, your Board will need to review Rule 291.85
(Response to Requests for Service by a Retail Public Utility Within Its
Certificated Area) and note the time limits for establishing service upon
receipt of the service request.

TCEQ’s Role

Reference Source

We are available as a reference source if you need assistance; however, we
defer to your consultants as they are the experts in their chosen professional
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fields and are aware of your district’s unique situation and the laws that
govern its operations.

Inspection

Under TWC Section 49.196 we may inspect a district’s fiscal and financial
records, and any other records we consider necessary. That section and Rule
293.4 also require that a district’s fiscal records be available for public
inspection during regular business hours. While the Legislature has not
defined “regular business hours” within TWC Chapter 49, regular business
hours are commonly understood to be Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m.
until 5:00 p.m. unless otherwise established by a resolution of your Board
during an open board meeting.

Compliance

TWC Section 49.195 provides that we may perform a review on the audit
report of each district. Refer to this Guide’s Chapter on Auditing Guidance
for more information. During our review we are required to notify the Board
and its auditor if we note any violations or if we have any recommendations.
TWC Section 49.195 prevents us from accepting your audit report for filing
until your Board and the auditor remedy our objections and correct noted
violations. If we determine that a penal law has been violated, we are
required to notify the appropriate county or district attorney and the Attorney
General.

TWC Section 49.194 requires us to file with the Attorney General the names
of districts that do not comply with TWC Chapter 49, Subchapter G (4udit
of Districts) provisions. Additionally, TWC Section 49.003 and Rule
293.94(j)(2) authorize us to seek civil penalties of up to $100 per day against
a district for its willful failure to comply with the filing provisions of the
TWC after receiving our written notification. If your Board is late in filing
its required financial status report, we may send you a reminder letter
regarding your district’s statutory duties, but it is ultimately the responsibility
of your Board to ensure that the district is in compliance with the statutes.
Refer to the Agency’s Report Review section in the Guide’s Chapter on
Auditing Guidance on page 3-4 for more information.
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ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

Overview of the Administrative System
Objectives

A district’s administrative system includes its accounting system, the
maintenance of non-accounting records, employee and consultant relations,
and other management concerns. An effective administrative and
management system for districts includes four important functions:

safeguarding of assets

B planning and control
B demonstrating legal compliance
B timely reporting

Safeguarding of Assets

Your Board is responsible for the stewardship and protection of your
district’s assets. The assets may include cash, accounts receivable,
investments, inventories, supplies, equipment, buildings, and infrastructure.
Your district’s administrative system must identify and quantify those assets
to ensure accountability. Your Board must also ensure that the district’s
assets are not used unnecessarily or for non-district purposes.

Planning and Control

An efficient administrative system makes it easier for the district to manage
its resources and plan for future events. Your district’s accounting system
should provide meaningful and accurate reports for the Board’s use in
controlling operations. Records should be available to inform the Board of
past operations, contract provisions, and historical trends. Employee
guidelines should provide for employee accountability. The duties of
consultants should be specified by contract and monitored on a periodic
basis. As mentioned in this Guide s Chapter on General Financial Guidance,
we recommend that a district issue RFPs on its consultants every five years.

TWC Section 49.199(a)(6)(A) requires the adoption of a formal budget by
your Board before the fiscal year begins. The formal budget should be used
to help control expenditures and as a reference for decision making. It may
also be used as a spending limitation for your staff and consultants should
your Board determine that a spending limitation is in the district’s best
interest. Refer to Annual Budget section on page 1-6.

Demonstrating Legal Compliance

A primary concern of your district is compliance with the many state statutes,
federal laws and mandates, contractual provisions (including bond orders),
and district board resolutions. Your district’s record keeping system must
retain key records and ensure that those records are readily accessible. Your
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district’s accounting system must ensure that the funds are separated and
used according to the authorizations. The district’s personnel and consultant
management system must be able to document compliance with federal
mandates and contractual agreements.

Timely Reporting

Each district is accountable to the public, state agencies, and its bondholders.
Your district’s administrative system must ensure that the data required for
the annual audit and other reports are captured by the accounting system and
that procedures are in place to submit these required reports on a timely
basis.

Overview of the Accounting System

2-2

Checks and Balances

Your district’s accounting system must capture and quantify each change in
assets, liabilities, and fund balance. This is done by a double-entry system of
bookkeeping which ensures that for each transaction, the affect on assets is
balanced by a corresponding effect on liabilities or fund balance; or, for
every debit entry there is a corresponding credit entry.

There are a variety of accounting systems and methods, both in manual and
automated formats. An accounting system has the following books:
®  a general ledger

B general and/or specialized journals (or transaction register)
B achart of accounts

These books provide the foundation for your district’s system of recording,
classifying, and reporting accounting information.

The Accounting Cycle

The accounting system gathers and summarizes your district’s complete
financial data in a clear, concise manner with the intent to organize the
information to enable your district’s personnel to better perform their duties.

The foundation of an accounting system is the Chart of Accounts (Refer to
Appendix B for a sample Chart of Accounts). This document determines
how data is classified and summarized for future reporting. If your district’s
expenditure accounts are defined as “other” and “miscellaneous” significant
details would be lost as many different types of transactions will be merged
together in the summaries.

The Chart of Accounts should provide a balance in the level of detail. A very
detailed system of accounts will provide more information on specific
transactions. However, working with a large number of accounts may be too
unwieldy. Most systems provide for summary accounts which consolidate a
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number of defined accounts. In this way the details are not lost and the
summaries can be used for reporting purposes.

The Chart of Accounts should be accessible to all employees involved in
authorizing, classifying, and recording the district’s financial data so their use
of each account remains consistent throughout the district’s records.

The financial data come from many source documents. The source
documents provide supporting or underlying evidence for all of your
district’s financial transactions. Examples include: purchase invoices, billing
stubs, and cash receipt slips. Since source documents are often the only
evidence of a financial transaction, they should be filed in the district’s
records in a consistent and logical manner for future reference.

Source documents received from or verified by outside parties provide more
reliable evidence of accounting transactions than internally generated
documents. When it is not possible to obtain external evidence of a
transaction, a statement as to the nature of the transaction, the authorization,
and the contact person should be included in the district’s records and cross-
referenced in the journals.

The original book of entry of a transaction into your district’s accounting
system is usually in a journal (or a transaction register for computerized
systems). The journals may be highly specialized for the specific type of
transaction, or they may be more generic to capture a variety of transactions.
The purpose of the journal is to provide a chronological listing of all
transactions and how the transactions are classified into accounts, with
sufficient references to the source documents. The journals allow for
common transactions to be summarized on a periodic basis before posting to
the General Ledger.

The total cash received should match the total on the deposit slip recorded by
the bank. The increase in cash (a debit) is posted to the General Ledger to
the appropriate cash account, and the decrease in accounts receivable from
the customer (a credit) is posted to the General Ledger account which
summarizes the individual account balance.

A check register can act as a Cash Disbursements Journal if it is
sufficiently detailed to provide a cross-reference to the source document and
to the accounts affected by the transaction. The account totals are
periodically summarized and posted to the General Ledger. The posting
frequency should be according to your district’s accounting policies and
procedures as documented in your district's manual.

The General Ledger’s purpose is to organize and summarize the individual
transactions listed in the journals. The General Ledger is broken down into
the account categories which are listed in your district’s Chart of Accounts.
The summary totals from the journals are posted to the General Ledger so
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that the effect of transactions on each account category can be determined.
The General Ledger should cross-reference the journals so you can trace the
transaction back to the source.

The General Ledger provides the basis for reporting financial information.
All transactions recorded in the journals or by other means should be
summarized in the General Ledger under the appropriate account category.

Atthe end of your district’s accounting cycle, the General Ledger is balanced
to ensure that the debits and credits are equal. This helps to determine any
errors in accounting or data entry; however, a “balanced” set of books does
not ensure that all transactions have been entered; that the transactions have
been correctly classified; or, that the transactions were properly authorized.

Authorization

The most common district transaction is the receipt and disbursement of
funds. It is imperative that a formal authorization process be adopted to
control the inflow and outflow of district funds. Access to the district’s cash
(receipts and disbursements) should be limited. In addition, the ability of an
individual to both initiate and complete a transaction should be avoided,
where possible.

The authority to disburse funds or to credit accounts should be traceable to
your Board. This could be in form of direct authorization by the Board of
every expenditure or a Board resolution authorizing a person to disburse
funds of up to a set amount. All direct or indirect authorizations should be
a result of board action at an open board meeting and noted in the Board’s
meeting minutes.

Vouchers are often used to indicate the authorization and classification of a
disbursement. Vouchers are a form attached to the source document to
capture key information necessary to process a disbursement, such as vendor
name, vendor code, authorizing initials or signatures, and the transaction
classification by account codes. Your Board can use this form to indicate the
date of the board meeting where the Board approved the expenditure or other
transaction information.

Classification

Classifying transactions is a key component in an accounting system.
Transactions should be classified according to the Chart of Accounts
(Appendix B) by the person most familiar with the nature of the transaction.
All personnel who initiate or supervise disbursements should be familiar with
your district’s Chart of Accounts codes so they can properly identify and
classify the transaction.
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Segregation of Duties

Your district’s accounting system should include a system of checks and
balances, including those precautions mentioned above and procedures
detailing a segregation of duties, where possible. A good example of
segregation of duties is the separation of operational responsibility from
recording responsibility. A bookkeeper should not handle cash nor should the
cashier have access to the ledger account records.

Segregation of duties and a formal authorization procedure are examples of
elements of internal control. As the size and complexity of your district’s
accounting system increases so should the district’s internal control
procedures.

Internal Control

The topics addressed above form your district’s internal control procedures.
The purpose of an internal control procedure is to provide for the prevention
and detection of errors and irregularities occurring in the normal course of
business. A sample checklist of internal control procedures is in this
chapter’s section on Financial Procedures and Accounting Controls on
page 2-22.

Your auditor is a valuable source of information on your district’s internal
control system. He may provide your Board with an evaluation of the
district’s system of internal controls and suggest recommendations for
improvement. This information may be given verbally or documented in the
audit report’s management letter (Refer to Auditing Guidance Chapter and
Appendix N8). It is your Board’s responsibility to consider the
recommendations in your auditor’s management letter and to require any
changes where appropriate.

Basics of Fund Accounting

Fund Definition

A fund is an accounting entity created by a government for the purpose of
tracking the finances of a particular activity or group of activities. Each fund
has a self-balancing set of accounts containing only those asset, liability,
fund balance, revenue, and expenditure accounts needed to track the financial
results of the activity or group of activities. A fund has only those accounts
that are necessary to reflect your district’s specific operations for which the
fund is established.

Major Funds
Major funds include:

® the General Fund,

B any governmental or enterprise fund whose assets, liabilities,
revenues, or expenditures/expenses are at least 10 percent of the
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corresponding total (assets, liabilities, revenues, expenditures/
expenses) for all funds of that type, and at least 5 percent of the
corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds
combined, and

® any other governmental or enterprise fund that the district
believes is important to financial statement users.

Fund Types

B Governmental funds track the finances of the district’s basic
services.

B Proprietary funds track the district’s activities that are operated
like a private business, by charging its customers a fee in return
for goods or services.

B Fiduciary funds track activities in which the district acts as
trustee or agent for resources that belong to others.

Governmental Funds

As governmental entities, most districts can perform several functions
including:

B water treatment and distribution services

®m  sewage collection and treatment services
® fire protection
B construction and maintenance of recreational areas

To properly account for its varied activities, your district may need to use
several governmental funds. However, districts should establish only the
minimum number of funds consistent with its operating requirements, legal
requirements, and fund purposes. Too many funds can make your district’s
financial accounting and reporting unduly complex.

The focus for governmental funds is on the sources, uses, and balances of
current financial resources and often has a budgetary perspective. The
following briefly describes the purpose of each governmental fund.

General Fund accounts for all financial resources except those required to
be reported in another fund. This fund accounts for most of your district’s
general revenues, expenses, current assets, and current liabilities.

Special Revenue Fund accounts for revenues that are legally restricted to be
used for specific purposes.

Capital Projects Fund accounts for financial resources, including general
obligation bond proceeds, to be used to acquire or construct major capital
facilities.

Debt Service Fund accounts for resources to be used to pay long-term debt.
Debt Service Funds are required if the district is accumulating resources to
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pay principal and interest maturing in future years. Other Debt Service Fund
expenditures include the cost of:

B assessing property values

® [evying and collecting taxes
m fiscal agent fees

Bond orders, an integral part of every bond issue, contain provisions and
resolutions dictating how bond proceeds are to be used and how revenues are
to be generated. It is important that your Board seek professional guidance
on issues concerning the district’s bonded debt.

Typically, your district’s actual collection of taxes is performed by a tax
collector. The Debt Service Fund entries may occur monthly or at year end,
subsequent to receiving the information from the tax collector.

Permanent Funds account for resources that are legally restricted so that
only earnings, and not principal, may be used to support the district’s
activities.

Proprietary Funds

The focus for proprietary funds is on the determination of operating income,
changes in net assets (or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows.
Proprietary funds are used for activities similar to those found in the private
sector. The following briefly describes the purpose of each proprietary fund.

Enterprise Fund accounts for activities that the district charges fees to users
for goods and services. Generally fees are set high enough to cover most or
all of the costs of providing the goods and services.

Enterprise funds are permitted for any activity that a fee is charged to users
for goods and services. Enterprise funds are required if any of the following
conditions are met when applied in context of the activity’s principal revenue
sources:

®m  The activity’s net revenues from fees and services are the only
security for the activity’s debt, even though the debt may be
secured in part by a portion of the debt’s proceeds. If the debt is
also secured by the full faith and credit of a related primary
government or component unit, the use of an Enterprise Fund is
not required.

® Laws or regulations require the activity’s costs of services,
including capital costs (such as depreciation or debt service), be
recovered through fees and charges, rather than with taxes or
similar revenues.

B Fees and charges are designed to recover the district’s costs,
including capital costs (depreciation or debt service).
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Most districts will not meet any of the conditions above and will use only
governmental funds. While some districts may have activities that would
permit (but not require) the use of Enterprise Funds, we recommend your
district use governmental funds when possible. We think governmental funds
are more appropriate for activities that are supported by taxes or similar
revenues. The information and examples in this Guide are focused on a
typical district that uses only governmental fund accounting. If your district
uses proprietary funds accounting, you will need to modify the information
in this Guide to fit your district’s needs.

Internal Service Fund accounts for activities that provide goods or services
to other district funds or departments, or to other governments on a cost-
reimbursement basis if the district is the primary participant in the activity.

Fiduciary Funds

The focus of fiduciary funds is on net assets and changes in net assets.
Fiduciary funds are held in trust for others and cannot be used to finance the
district’s own programs. Districts should use fiduciary funds if they have
activities that meet the criteria for using those funds. The following briefly
describes the purpose of each fiduciary fund.

Pension Trust Fund accounts for resources held in trust for members and
beneficiaries of benefit and pension plans.

Investment Trust Fund accounts for the portion of the district’s investment
pool that belongs to other governments.

Private-Purpose Trust Fund accounts for trust arrangements where the
principal and income benefits individuals, private organizations, or other
governments.

Agency Fund accounts for resources held by the district in a purely custodial
capacity.

Financial Reporting Model—A General View

2-8

GASB 34 revised the financial reporting model to provide more
understandable and useful financial information that will result in greater
accountability to your citizens.

Accountability

Accountability is a broad concept but it describes the process and procedures
to hold an organization responsible for its performance. GASB has
recognized accountability as the primary objective of government financial
reporting.
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In the past, government financial statements focused on:

m fiscal accountability for governmental activities

®  operational accountability for business type and certain fiduciary
activities

Fiscal Accountability is ensuring that current period actions have complied
with public decisions on the raising and spending of public monies in the
short term.

Operational Accountability is reporting the extent to which services are
being provided efficiently and effectively, using all resources available for
that purpose, and whether the government can meet its objectives in the
future.

The new financial reporting model combines the traditional focus of
government fund financial statements (fiscal accountability and the modified
accrual basis of accounting) with new forms of reporting to meet the need for
longer-term financial information and to improve the operational
accountability of governments. The new financial statements will provide
information by fund as well as on the entire government as an economic
entity.

The revised model:

B creates new information and restructures old information

B integrates traditional modified accrual accounting with new forms
of governmental financial reporting

® requires a reformatted financial report

B requires financial managers (your Board) to share their insight

GASB 34 Financial Statement Elements

An overview of the financial statement elements of the revised financial
reporting model include:

B  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

®  Basic Financial Statements
e Government-Wide Statements

m  Statement of Net Assets
m  Statement of Activities
e Fund Financial Statements

= Governmental Funds Financial Statements
» Balance Sheet
» Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances
» Required Reconciliation Schedules
= Proprietary Funds Financial Statements
» Statement of Net Assets
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» Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Fund Net Assets
* Required Reconciliation Schedules
» Statement of Cash Flows
»  Fiduciary Funds Financial Statements
» Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
» Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets
e Notes to the Financial Statements

B Required Supplementary Information (RSI) other than MD&A

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The MD&A is required supplementary information (RSI) that comes before
the financial statements. The MD&A is an objective, easily read analytical
overview of your district’s financial activities, including its overall financial
position and the results of its operations. Your Board should work with its
auditor, financial advisor, attorney, and other district consultants and staff in
preparing your district’s MD&A and supporting information. See Appendix
N3’s outline on page N-4 for the MD&A’s required elements.

Basic Financial Statements

The basic financial statements are the heart of your district’s annual financial
report. These statements contain the principal information about your
district’s finances and include: the government-wide statements, the fund
financial statements, and the notes to the financial statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements provide comprehensive financial
information about your district’s activities. The purpose is to present the
district’s financial position and the results of its operations taken as a whole.
The government-wide financial statements do not include fiduciary activities.

The government-wide financial statements are the Statement of Net Assets
and Statement of Activities. They are prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting (Appendix P).

The Statement of Net Assets presents the district’s financial position and
includes all financial and capital resources. This statement tells you about
what your district owns and owes at its fiscal year end. All assets and
liabilities are presented in a net assets format (assets minus liabilities equal
net assets) or in a balance sheet format (assets equal liabilities plus net
assets). GASB encourages your district to use the net assets format. We
prefer that format for consistency in reporting for all districts.

Water District Financial Management Guide
TCEQ publication RG-080 = Revised March 2004



The Statement of Activities tracks your district’s yearly revenues, expenses,

and transactions that increase or decrease net assets in a format that reports

the net revenue (expense) of individual functions. This statement’s purpose

is to:

m report the relative financial burden of each of the district’s
functions to the taxpayers

B identify whether each function is supported by the district’s
general revenues or is self-financing through user fees.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide a more detailed look at your district’s
major programs and present information on the district’s management and
control of its short term financial resources. They also provide fiscal
accountability information to assess whether monies raised for a particular
purpose were used for that purpose.

The government-wide financial statements present both short- and long-term
activities that include assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses related to the
district’s functions. The fund financial statements present a more detailed
short-term view of district functions that include only the most readily
available assets, presently due liabilities, and the resources that flow into and
out of the district during the year or shortly thereafter.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

The governmental fund financial statements present the sources, uses, and
balances of current financial resources for the district’s basic services. These
statements are prepared using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting (Appendix P). Required
governmental fund statements are the balance sheet and the statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances.

The Balance Sheet presents information on the assets, liabilities, and fund
balances for each major governmental fund in separate columns and for all
nonmajor governmental funds totaled in a single column. Assets, liabilities,
and fund balances are shown in a balance sheet format (assets equal
liabilities plus fund balances).

The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
presents information on the inflows, outflows, and balances of current
financial resources of each major governmental fund in separate columns and
for the nonmajor governmental funds in total.

Required Reconciliation Schedules. Two reconciliations are required:

®m  Net assets to fund balance
®m  Change in net assets to change in fund balance
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The purpose of the reconciliation schedules is to provide an explanation for
the differences between:

®  fund balances in the fund financial statements and net assets in
the government-wide financial statements

® thenet change in fund balances of governmental funds in the fund
financial statements and the change in net assets in the
government-wide statements (the effect of long-term accruals not
reported in the funds)

Other differences are the result of the difference in the measurement focus
and basis of accounting between the government-wide financial statements
and the fund financial statements and the possible inclusion of internal
service funds in the governmental activities in the government-wide
presentation. The reconciliations should be presented at the bottom of the
fund financial statements or in separate schedules.

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

The proprietary fund financial statements present the district’s financial
activities that operate similarly to a private business with the focus on
operating income, changes in net assets (cost recovery), financial position,
and cash flows. Proprietary fund financial statements are prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting
(Appendix P). Remember that this Guide focuses on a small general-law
single-purpose district that uses only governmental fund accounting.

The Statement of Net Assets presents the financial information for each
major enterprise fund in a separate column. Nonmajor enterprise funds
should be totaled and displayed in a single column, and a combined total
column should be presented for all enterprise funds.

Assets and liabilities should be presented in a classified format to distinguish
between current and long-term assets and liabilities.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets
presents the revenues, expenses, and changes in proprietary fund net assets.

The Statement of Cash Flows tracks the sources and uses of cash flows. This
statement uses the direct method and includes cash flows from:

B operating activities
non—capital financing activities

]
m capital and related financing activities
B investing activities

The direct method requires the reconciliation of operating income to cash
provided by the district’s operations.
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Fiduciary Fund Statements

The fiduciary fund statements present financial information for pension and
other employee benefit trust funds, investment trust funds, private-purpose
trust funds, and agency funds. Financial statements of fiduciary funds are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting, except for the recognition of certain liabilities of defined
benefit pension plans and certain post-employment healthcare plans.

The Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets presents information about the
assets, liabilities, and net assets for each fiduciary fund type.

The Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets presents information
about the year’s additions, deductions, and net increase (decrease) in net
assets for each fiduciary fund type (except agency funds) and should provide
information about significant year-to-year changes in net assets

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements communicate information essential for
the fair presentation of the financial statements that is not displayed on the
face of your district’s financial statements and are an integral part of the
financial statements. They provide information on your district’s significant
accounting policies, including the basis of accounting used, policies for
capitalizing assets, and policies for estimating the useful lives of assets when
calculating the district’s depreciation expense.

Required Disclosures for Capital Assets by major asset class (land,
infrastructure, buildings and improvements, vehicles, machinery and
equipment, and construction in progress) include:

B Beginning and ending balances with accumulated depreciation
shown separately from historical cost

m  Capital acquisitions

Sales or other dispositions

®m  Current-period depreciation expense, including the amounts
charged to each of the functions in the Statement of Activities.

Required Disclosures for Long-Term Liabilities provide information for
long-term debt instruments (bonds, notes, loans, and leases payable) and
other long-term liabilities (compensated absences, claims, and judgments)
including:

B Beginning and ending balances

B Increases and decreases (separately presented)

®m  The portions of each item that are due within one year of the
statement date

B Information on the governmental funds typically used to liquidate
long-term liabilities in prior years
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Required Supplementary Information Other Than MD&A

Required supplementary information to be presented with the district’s
financial statements include:

®m  Budgetary comparison schedules (required for the General Fund
and major Special Revenue Funds with legally adopted budgets)

B Modified approach for reporting infrastructure when used

Budgetary Comparison Schedules, under GASB, are required for
governments with legally adopted (appropriated) budgets. The schedules
compare the original and final budgets for the reporting period to actual
results (inflows, outflows, and balances). Most districts’ operating budgets
are non-appropriated.

Our rules require your district to adopt its annual operating budget prior to
the start of your district’s fiscal year and to include a budgetary comparison
statement (actual, budget, and variances) in the financial statements or as
supplementary information (Rule 293.97). The budgetary comparison
schedule is required for all districts, including those using proprietary fund
accounting.

The Modified Approach for Reporting Infrastructure requires disclosures
on the assessed condition of your district’s infrastructure assets. The
modified approach is probably not feasible for most districts due to the effort
involved in gathering the required information. Any district that uses the
modified approach should consult the various AICPA and GASB
publications for additional information.

Financial Reporting—District-Specific

214

Districts Engaged in a Single Program

Districts engaged in a single governmental program may combine their fund
financial statements with their government-wide statements by using a
columnar format that reconciles individual line items of fund financial data
to the government-wide data in a separate column. If a columnar format is
used, a single-program district must provide the required reconciliation
information between the fund financial data and the government-wide data.
Descriptions of the reconciling items must be presented on the face of the
financial statements, in an accompanying schedule, or in the notes to the
financial statements.

Most districts are single-program governments since their one predominant
function is to provide water related services; we view other activities as
minor activities. While our general guidance is to view districts as special-
purpose districts engaged in a single program, some districts will have
characteristics or conditions that will not allow them to be viewed as single-
program special-purpose governments. As such, we encourage districts to use
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the columnar format for the financial statement presentation, unless a district
is better served by another, generally accepted format.

A district may not be considered a single-program government if it budgets,
manages, or accounts for its activities as multiple programs. Refer to various
AICPA and GASB publications (Appendix O) for additional information on
special-purpose governments, including those engaged only in business-type
activities or only in fiduciary activities.

The focus of the following topic is the classified format financial statement
presentation. If your district uses another financial statement presentation
format it should adopt the essence of this topic to correspond with the format
used.

Capital Assets

Capital assets are tangible and intangible assets used in your district’s
operations that have useful lives of more than a year, including:

Land and Land Improvements

Infrastructure

Buildings and Building Improvements
Machinery and Equipment

Vehicles

Easements (rights of way)

Water Rights

Capital assets are recorded at historic cost or estimated fair value at the date
acquired. The cost of capital assets includes the purchase price or
construction cost plus all costs necessary to place the asset in service. This
includes all professional fees and other costs directly related to the
installation of facilities.

When original cost information is not available, you can use the asset’s
current cost and deflate that amount back to when your district first acquired
the asset or placed it in service. Your district must report its capital assets
(including infrastructure assets) in the Statement of Net Assets at historic
cost, net of accumulated depreciation.

Capitalization Policy. We encourage your district to evaluate its assets and
establish a capitalization policy. If an asset is capitalized, then it would be
depreciated.

Value thresholds for assets would be useful and could vary according to
district size. Asset grouping to identify groups that comprise at least 80% of
the total system value would provide some of the same advantages as
thresholds. We encourage your Board to group or classify its assets to
simplify the accounting and reporting process. A sample capital asset
classification for districts is in Appendix A.
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Different classes of assets can have different capitalization policies and
different thresholds can be set for management control purposes or for
compliance with laws and regulations. Your district is required to disclose its
capitalization policy, including the dollar value above which your district’s
asset acquisitions are added to the district’s capital accounts. We recognize
that not all capital outlays will be capitalized. Your Board’s capitalization
threshold will define what will be capitalized.

Infrastructure Assets are long-lived capital assets that are usually stationary
and can be preserved for many more years than other capital assets (water,
sewer, and drainage systems, dams, tunnels, roads, and bridges). Y our district
must begin capitalizing and reporting its major general infrastructure assets
when it implements GASB 34. GASB 34 requires retroactive implementation
back to your fiscal year ending after June 30, 1980. However, we encourage
your district to research its records to capitalize and report all major general
infrastructure assets regardless of when each asset was first acquired or
placed in service so that your district’s overall financial position is fairly
presented.

Modified Approach for Reporting Infrastructure. The financial reporting
model allows for the use of a modified approach for reporting infrastructure
assets. Your district has the option of using the modified approach; however,
your Board and its consultants must consider the additional requirements and
related costs. Any district that uses the modified approach should consult the
various AICPA and GASB publications for additional information. We
recommend your district use the traditional capitalization and depreciation
approach to account for and report on its infrastructure assets.

Facilities Map. We strongly encourage your district to develop a facilities
map as the base for the inventory of its system’s infrastructure assets. Like
all governments, your district will experience turnover in its governing
Board, consultants, and personnel. Relying on the historical memories of
involved parties can be spotty at best. It is our opinion that a map
documenting your system’s various components is critical to the district’s
overall fiscal, managerial, and operational health.

The facilities map could be an electronic scaled diagram that accurately
shows all aboveground and below-ground system components (property
lines, streams, pipelines, tanks). The distribution and collection lines would
be shown by size and location. We have seen many situations in past years
where a map of a district’s facilities would have saved the day. We
recommend that additional inventory information be added to a district’s
facility map, including asset installation date and original cost, to ensure the
map will provide the information necessary for the capitalization and
depreciation of your district’s infrastructure assets.

Intangible Assets—Easements and Water Rights. Easements are intangible
assets characterized as rights that were granted, purchased, or acquired by
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eminent domain. If they are recorded in your county’s records and held in
perpetuity, they attach to the land and transfer with the land if the land is
sold. As a part of the land they are inexhaustible and not depreciable.

Easements that are not recorded in your county’s records are exhaustible and,
if the purchase price exceeds your district’s capitalization threshold, it is
depreciated over the lessor of its useful life (as determined by your Board’s
capitalization policy) or 40 years. If it is acquired by a grant or by
condemnation procedures it will appear on your district’s books at zero cost.

Water rights are also intangible assets characterized as rights that have been
granted or purchased. If the purchase price exceeds your district’s
capitalization threshold they are depreciated over the lessor of their useful
life or 40 years. Water rights appear to be inexhaustible, but since they are
bought and sold, they are a depreciable asset. If acquired by a grant, they will
appear on your district’s books at zero cost to properly record the existence
of the water right.

Depreciation of Capital Assets

Capital assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives unless they are
inexhaustible. An inexhaustible capital asset is one whose economic benefit
or service is used up so slowly that its estimated useful life is extraordinarily
long. Depreciable capital assets should be reported in the Statement of Net
Assets at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Net assets should
be displayed in three components including:

B invested in capital assets, net of related debt

B restricted
B unrestricted

Non depreciable capital assets that are inexhaustible (land) are reported as a
separate line item on the Statement of Net Assets. Construction-in-progress
should be included with the nondepreciable capital assets in the Statement of
Net Assets.

Accumulated depreciation is reported in the Statement of Net Assets on the
face of the statement. Regardless of the presentation in the Statement of Net
Assets, the notes to the financial statements should disclose accumulated
depreciation separately in addition to changes in accumulated depreciation
(see Required Disclosures for Capital Assets on page 2-13). Depreciation
expense for capital assets is reported in the Statement of Activities.

Accounting for Bonds
Most districts can issue three types of bonds:

m  general obligation bonds

B revenue bonds
B 3 combination of tax and revenue bonds
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General obligation bonds are secured by your district’s taxing authority.
Revenue bonds are secured by a lien on the revenues generated when your
district provides services to its customers. Combination tax and revenue
bonds are secured by both the district’s taxing authority and a lien on the
district’s service revenues.

Accounting for general obligation bonds requires the use of multiple funds.
Separate funds are needed to account for these separate functions of your
district: bonded indebtedness; capital assets; construction of capital assets;
debt service payments; district operations; and any special revenues.
Accounting for revenue bonds requires only a single fund be used. All

activities accounted for in that fund are used to pay off your district’s bonded
debt.

Combination tax and revenue bonds are similar to general obligation bonds
as the primary security is your district’s taxing authority. Repayment of the
bonds and the interest expense comes from the district’s service revenues.
When the service revenues cannot meet your district’s debt obligations, your
Board can use district tax revenues to extinguish its debt.

Districts with Industrial Development or Pollution Control Bonds should
follow the State Auditor’s financial reporting guidelines in Appendix L.

Property Taxes

For governmental funds, only those property taxes collected within the
current period or soon thereafter (not to exceed 60 days after fiscal year end)
to pay the district’s current liabilities should be reported in your district’s
revenues. The uncollected property taxes and taxes collected in advance must
be reported as deferred revenue.

Inventory of Materials, Supplies, and Prepaid Expenditures

Your district may report its supplies, insurance, and other expenditures using
the consumption method or it may report these amounts as expenditures when
acquired under the purchase method. Your district must report significant
amounts (in your Board’s opinion) of ending inventory on its balance sheet.

Debt Issue Proceeds

Long-term debt proceeds must be reported as a financing source. Short-term
borrowing must be reported as a liability to the applicable fund.

Capital Outlay

Capital outlay includes all costs incurred for construction of facilities and
related direct costs which are presumed to benefit both your district’s current
and future fiscal years. This includes:

B upgrading facilities

®  adding to facilities

B major overhauls of equipment
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Not all capital outlay expenses are transferred to capital assets, only those
that are for general government purposes. Specific fund assets are accounted
for in their respective funds. Not all capital outlays will be capitalized. Your
Board’s capitalization threshold will define what will be capitalized.

Reserves

In a governmental fund, use of the term reserve should be limited to that
portion of the fund balance that is not available for expenditure or is legally
reserved for a specific future use. If part of the fund balance is reserved, the
remainder should be reported as a designated or an unreserved fund balance.

Accounting System

A district’s accounting may be done by a computerized or a manual system.
Whichever method is chosen, the accounting records should be maintained
using GAAP and the guidelines set forth in this Guide. While the Guide’s
information and examples are focused on small single-purpose districts that
use only governmental funds, the Guide is applicable to all districts including
large multipurpose districts that use proprietary funds. The goal of this
Guide is not to prescribe rigid accounting procedures, but to establish
general guidelines.

Records Needed

All accounting records described in the Guide should be maintained
according to your district’s fiscal year. Y our district’s accounting system will
include many accounting records, journals, registers, and source documents.
Depending on your district’s activities and needs, its accounting system may
use journals and registers beyond these basic records:

Chart of Accounts

Special Journals
General Journal
General Ledger
Capital Asset Register
Check Register

Bank Statements
Source Documents

Chart of Accounts

Your district’s Chart of Accounts establishes the capability to classify
accounting transactions in a variety of combinations pertinent to the
operating and reporting requirements of the district. Any item posted to your
district’s records will be coded to an account found on the district’s Chart of
Accounts. An example of a Chart of Accounts with appropriate account
descriptions is provided in Appendix B.
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Special Journals

Special journals are used for efficiently recording transactions that occur
frequently. The number of special journals maintained by your district
depends on the extent and nature of your district’s activities. In computerized
systems, the journals may take various forms and may be integrated with the
check register (Cash Disbursements Journal); however in any system there
must be a listing of transactions and accounts to which the transactions were
classified, and each transaction must be entered with equal debits and credits.
See Appendices D, H, and 1.

General Journal

The General Journal is also called the book of original entry. This journal’s
purpose is to record unique or infrequent transactions that are not
appropriately recorded in any of the special journals (including adjusting
journal entries).

All entries to the General Journal should:

m  classify the transaction by account

B appear in chronological order
® include an explanation for the entry with supporting
documentation and approval by a responsible person

General Ledger

The ledger’s purpose is to summarize transactions according to your district’s
account classifications. Column totals from the journals are tallied and
transferred to the appropriate accounts in the General Ledger. If the
governmental accounting method is chosen, the General Ledger is organized
by fund. All General Ledger accounts within a given fund are in account
number sequence according to your district’s Chart of Accounts.

Capital Asset Register

The Capital Asset Register (formerly known as General Fixed Asset Account
Group) maintains a list of infrastructure and other capital assets
purchased/constructed by the district (Appendix A). Each recorded asset
should include:

B a description

® identification number

B the purchase or construction date

B the source document details

B columns for purchased/constructed costs, the annual and
accumulated depreciation, and the asset’s total cost

Ideally, the Capital Asset Register would be combined with an electronic
facilities map to record information on the district’s capital assets (see
Facilities Map on page 2-16).
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Check Register

A check register must be maintained for each checking account. All account
transactions (cash disbursements, cash receipts, and other transactions) must
be recorded in your district’s check registers. Your check register must be
reconciled upon receipt of your bank statement.

Bank Statement

A bank statement should be received for each account maintained. The
statement may be received monthly, quarterly, or annually depending on each
account’s activity or type. The bank statement should be reconciled to your
district’s check register.

Source Documents

The source documents provide the support for the accounting entry. They
include:

B the cash receipts source document

B the cash disbursements source document
B the journal voucher

Cash Receipts. These source documents include all cash receipt transactions
regardless of their origin, including:

®  service charge receipts

B receipts from the sale or redemption of investments
B tap connection fees

®  proceeds from bond sales

®  all other cash receipts

Cash Disbursements. These source documents include all cash disbursement
transactions, including:

B debt service payments to your district’s paying agent

all operating and nonoperating expenditures
purchases of land and rights-of-way
improvements to land

constructing and purchasing capital assets

all other disbursements made by your district

Journal Vouchers. The Journal Voucher source documents are used to
record all transactions not included in cash receipts or cash disbursements,
including:

®  all adjusting and closing entries

B all other transactions not involving cash received or disbursed
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Cash Transactions

The cash transactions of a General or Enterprise Fund begin with recording
the current billing to Revenue and Accounts Receivable accounts.
Expenditures are reported to the proper expense account and to the Cash
account. The sample Chart of Accounts in Appendix B has some expense
classifications that your district can use. The receipt of cash payments is
recorded to the Cash and the Accounts Receivable accounts and the receipt
should be logged into the Cash Receipts Journal.

The General Ledger provides an important control over transaction entries
as it summarizes all changes in cash. The reconciled cash balance should be
the same amount for the account listed in the General Ledger.

Accounting for Other Transactions

Tap and Other Fees

Tap fees should be collected with a tap fee application. The application may
contain:

the legal description of the lot

the physical address

the lot’s square footage

the meter size

the name of the person requesting the tap
the amount of the tap fee

Once your district confirms the application is complete, the district should
accept the tap fee payment and record the receipt in its Tap Fee Journal.
Remember to include the check number and the work order number assigned
to each tap in the Journal.

Tax Assessment

Tax assessments are recorded as Property Tax Revenue and Taxes Receivable
at the beginning of the year. The General Fund and the Debt Service Fund
each record its proportional share of Taxes Receivable and Property Tax
Revenue according to the tax assessment. Appendix C provides examples of
fund accounting entries.

Financial Procedures and Accounting Controls

Accounting controls should be incorporated into all phases of your district’s
accounting system. A short list of useful financial control procedures follows.

Cash Receipts

As your district’s most liquid asset, cash requires the most supervision. A
standard method to account for cash receipts is to use prenumbered receipts
that contain:
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the customer’s name

the customer’s account number

the payment amount

the payment date

the period for which the payment is made

A receipt should be given to your customer. Your district should retain one
copy of the receipt with the clerk receiving the cash and one copy in the
district’s accounting department. Payments received in the mail are
accounted for in a similar fashion and the same information that is included
on a cash receipt should be found on the remittance notice.

Whether the receipt of cash is by mail or in person, each day’s total of all
cash receipts and remittance notices should equal the total of cash and checks
collected that day. A daily reconciliation of receipts to the amount of deposits
should be performed. Most important, all checks should be restrictively
endorsed For Deposit Only.

Bank Statements

Bank statements should be reviewed and reconciled by someone other than
the person responsible for preparing checks. The reconciliation should be
reviewed by a third person; the third person could be a district board member
if your district does not have many employees or contracted consultants.

Journal Entries

Journal entries should have appropriate backup documentation to explain the
entry being made. The entry should be approved by either a board member,
consultant, or third party.

Invoices

Invoices received requesting payment should be reviewed by your district’s
general manager or authorized representative. Upon authorization of the
invoice, he should indicate:

B the amount to be paid

® the date of approval
B the account to be charged

These authorized invoices should then be recorded in the Accounts Payable
system and filed in an open invoice file before the next regularly scheduled
board meeting.

During the next regular board meeting, all authorized invoices should be
submitted to your Board for their approval, along with the prepared checks.
After your Board has approved the invoices and signed the checks, the
invoices should be stamped Paid. Then, make a copy of each check, attach
the copy to the invoice (or, record the check number and date paid on the
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invoice), and file it in your district’s paid invoice file. Finally, mail the check
to the payee with a copy of the invoice your district is paying.

We recommend that your Board consider approving all transactions that the
general manager has authorized under the your Board’s delegated authority
(TWC Section 49.151) at each regular board meeting to ensure that your
Board is aware of all financial transactions and to provide an additional
control measure for the district’s funds.

Accounts Receivable

General Ledger amounts for Accounts Receivable must be reconciled to the
customer billing ledger on a regular cycle. Differences must be investigated
and, where appropriate, an adjusting entry should be made to reconcile any
differences.

Customer Deposits

The customer deposit accounts must be reconciled to the total of customer
deposits recorded in the billing ledger. Any differences should be
investigated and appropriate action taken.

Tax Collections

The entry to record tax collections must originate with the report of taxes
collected by your district’s tax assessor/collector. It is important that the
amounts collected and reported by the tax collector reconcile with the Taxes
Receivable records kept by your district so your Board is aware of the
amount and percentage of taxes collected.

The tax accounts must be separate from your district’s operating accounts.
Take care to avoid the accumulation of a larger than necessary balance. You
should transfer amounts out of this account and into the Debt Service and
operating accounts according to your district’s bond requirements and
operating procedures.

Budgets

The most effective tool to monitor and control your district’s revenues and
expenditures can be the Board’s formally adopted budget (refer to the
Guide’s Annual Budget section of the General Financial Guidance Chapter
on page 1-6). It is important that accurate and timely budget reports and other
information be available to your board members on a regular basis to aid in
their management of your district’s affairs.

Budgets should be prepared before your district’s fiscal year begins. Budget
and accounting line items must be very similar to make comparisons
meaningful and easily monitored. A budgeted to actual report, with monthly
and year-to-date figures, should be generated monthly or quarterly and any
variances investigated. Material differences that appear permanent usually
require your Board to amend the district’s existing formal budget.
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Reports to Your Board

Most boards meet regularly to pay the district’s bills and to discuss important
matters. Your Board may contract with various consultants to perform
services for your district and report to the Board on their accomplishments.
The following paragraphs describe the most common service providers and
their responsibilities to your Board.

Bookkeeper’s Responsibilities and Reports

With the continuing evolution of governmental accounting, your
bookkeeper’s position is more complex than in the past. Each fund has a
particular function and your bookkeeper is responsible for ensuring that all
accounts are kept “pure” with no intermingling of monies without the
specific direction of your district’s attorney or this Agency. Y our bookkeeper
maintains the district’s accounting records and is charged with the
responsibility of maintaining all records in conformity with GAAP.

Board Treasurer. Y our district may elect a board treasurer who may act with
your district’s investment officer to instruct the bookkeeper in investing the
district’s funds appropriately.

Most bookkeepers prepare the checks for approval and signature by your
Board. Although not authorized to sign checks, your bookkeeper can transfer
funds on the district’s behalf. They must maintain adequate records to allow
your district’s auditor to perform his audit of the district’s records.

Other bookkeeper duties include: making sure bond payments (due
semiannually) are made in a timely manner; advising your Board of any
financial problems which may arise due to inadequate or inaccurate rate
structures; maintaining investment schedules to mature in a timely fashion
to meet the district’s monthly bills; submitting timely revenue and
expenditure statements; and working closely with your district’s attorney,
engineer, tax collector, general manager, financial advisor, auditor, or other
professionals.

Cash Reports. A revenue and expenditure report for all funds should be
prepared by your bookkeeper and submitted to your Board for its approval.
The report may be presented to the Board at its regular meetings and should
show beginning balances, cash received by all sources, disbursements to be
approved, ending cash balances for all accounts, and a record of all
investments so that the district’s cash position, by fund, can be seen
regularly.

The report also should reflect the current cash balances and balance to the
check registers and/or the bank statements. Customer deposit liabilities for
the period then ended, and information for the next principal and interest
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payment on bonded indebtedness are examples of information often included
in the bookkeeper’s report.

Budget. We require all districts to prepare an annual budget for its operating
funds utilizing quarterly or monthly budget comparisons. Usually, your
bookkeeper will submit a proposed fiscal year budget to your Board. The
Board may make changes to the budget before giving its approval; however,
the following year’s annual budget must be approved before the close of the
current fiscal year (Rule 293.97b). This budget may be amended by your
Board throughout the fiscal year.

Budget Comparisons. Operating fund comparisons should be presented to
your Board quarterly or monthly and should indicate actual revenues and
expenses compared to those budgeted.

Bond Proceeds Comparison. When bond proceeds are expended, a
comparison should be presented to your Board to indicate the project items
as approved by the Agency, the amounts expended for each item, and
difference columns (over or under) of amounts expended to amounts
authorized for each item.

Developer Reimbursements. Your bookkeeper may keep records of any
developer reimbursements related to a bond issue. Districts must hire an
independent auditor to determine the amount to be reimbursed to the
developer from the sale of bonds approved by the Agency. Your bookkeeper
will maintain all copies of invoices and related materials on these
reimbursements.

A comparison report for your Board should show the amount of funds
approved by the Agency compared to the actual amount of funds disbursed.

Capital improvements within the district are performed by your developer at
his expense. Your district is not liable to reimburse the developer for these
expenses until it sells bonds. Even then, your district’s developer
reimbursement amount is subject to Agency approval.

At times a bond sale may not bring in enough money to reimburse your
district’s developer the entire amount due. In this case, your developer must
be reimbursed from a later bond issue.

Audit Preparations. The bookkeeper should compile all information and post
the district’s books. At the end of your district’s fiscal year, the bookkeeper
should timely reconcile all ledger accounts and prepare the books for the
annual audit (see Appendix I for abookkeeper’s audit preparation checklist).
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Other responsibilities may include:

m  Setting up the necessary bank accounts, savings accounts, and
investment accounts

®  Maintaining all journals and ledgers pertaining to district funds
according to GAAP and this Guide

B [ssuing and filing the district’s quarterly payroll tax returns and
1099s, 1096s, W2s, and W3s after each calendar year

Tax Assessor/Collector’s Responsibilities and Reports

Your district’s tax collector will calculate and collect the taxes levied by your
district. He will also disburse all tax related expenditures and submit reports
to your Board for their approval. The tax collector’s report is also important
to your district’s bookkeeper, as the bookkeeper must post the tax related
information to your district’s books from these reports. Your bookkeeper
may also pay bills and reconcile the district’s bank statements for the tax
accounts. The tax assessor/collector’s report should contain:

® total taxes levied
e Year
e Rate (debt service and maintenance)
e Levy amount

amount currently outstanding

current collections

percent collected

current period revenue

current period disbursements (with documentation),
beginning and ending cash balances

accounts payable at year end

any adjustments

Your Board should be able to determine the amount of tax revenues
outstanding and collected for the district’s operating year. By fiscal year end
your tax collector should prepare a delinquent tax roll on all tax years with
unpaid taxes.

Operator’s Responsibilities and Reports

Your operator’s responsibilities are similar to a city’s water department.
Your district’s operator may also be responsible for billing and collecting for
water, wastewater, and other services. Examples of his responsibilities
include:

B meter reading

B routine transfers, turn-ons/turn-offs
®  monthly billing and mailing

B bill collecting and accounting

B handling customer inquiries
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B maintaining all records for audit purposes according to Agency
regulations
B enforcing your district’s delinquency policy

Your operator may collect all fees as billed and deposit the funds directly
into your district’s General Fund checking account or into a separate
collection account. If the operator deposits into a collection account, your
bookkeeper will periodically transfer to the district’s checking account the
amount needed to cover the district’s operating expenses. An example of the
operator’s report is in Appendix E.

Attorney’s Responsibilities and Reports

Your district’s attorney acts as your Board’s general legal counsel. Since
districts are strictly regulated, your attorney’s assistance is required for
obtaining permits, drawing up contracts, annexation procedures, and many
other duties. He is your principal negotiator and can handle any lawsuits. He
must keep current on all laws and regulations applicable to districts. We
recommend that every district have an attorney familiar with water district
laws available to consult with regularly as timely, accurate advice will avoid
unnecessary complications.

Engineer’s Responsibilities and Reports

While your district is experiencing an active building program, your engineer
should be present at the regular board meetings. As your district nears build-
out, your engineer’s participation will decrease.

After build-out has occurred, your engineer may perform studies to determine
whether facility expansion is needed. With the district’s attorney and
financial advisor, your engineer can assist your Board in deciding whether
an additional bond sale would be in your district’s best interests.

Financial Advisor’s Responsibilities and Reports

2-28

B Recommendation of Tax Rates. Y our district’s financial advisor
may meet with your Board to recommend a tax rate for the
operating year. Drastic changes in your district’s tax rate should
be avoided. Your financial advisor will recommend annual
adjustments to minimize dramatic changes in your district’s tax
rate. Your financial advisor may present pro forma figures
demonstrating the implementation of his recommendations.

B Establishment of Service Rates. Y our financial advisor with the
district’s other consultants may provide advice on the district’s
service rates and tap fees.

B Explaining Current Financial Information. Your financial
advisor can answer requests from investors and rating agencies
for current financial information about your district.
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B Other Services. Your financial advisor can assist in the review of
audit report drafts and in your Board’s preparation of information
reports to be used with your district’s bond elections. Upon
request, your district’s financial advisor can be represented at a
board meeting where the district’s financial matters are to be
discussed.

Auditor’s Responsibilities and Reports

Each year your district must have its records audited by an independent
auditor. Additional work may also be required of an auditor on developer
reimbursements. Refer to this Guide’s Auditing Guidance Chapter for more
information about your auditor’s role.

Investment Officer’s Responsibilities and Reports

Your district will need the services of an Investment Officer. Each district
must designate an investment officer to invest the district’s assets according
to your district’s investment policy and the law. Your investment officer
must attend mandatory training on his responsibilities, including education
in investment controls, security risks, strategy risks, market risks, and
compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act (Government Code
Chapter 2256, Subchapter A).

When your district’s monies are invested, the law requires the securities to
be pledged by the depository to ensure your district’s investments are insured
against that depository’s failure. These activities require your investment
officer to maintain regular contact with the investment community to obtain
the best available rates. Refer to Cash Management below for additional
information.

Investment Reports. Y our district’s investment officer must, at a minimum,
issue quarterly written reports as required by the Public Funds Investment
Act. Refer to the Public Funds Investment Act for the report’s required
elements (Government Code Chapter 2256, Subchapter A; see Texas
Statutes in Appendix O).

Cash Management

Legal References

TWC Section 49.156 (Depository), TWC Section 49.157 (Investments),
TWC Section 49.1571 (Investment Officer), Government Code Chapter
2256, Subchapter A (Public Funds Investment Act), and Government Code
Chapter 2257 (Public Funds Collateral Act) provide the background for the
cash management practices discussed in this Guide’s Accounting Guidance
Chapter (Texas Statutes, Appendix O).
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Depository Accounts

A district should have the depository accounts listed below:

B General Operating Account. To receive day-to-day operating
receipts and to disburse normal operating expenditures. Receipts
can include revenues from water, wastewater, maintenance taxes,
standby fees, taps, wastewater inspections, interest, and developer
advances. Disbursements include expenditures for the district’s
normal operations.

B Capital Projects Account. To receive bond issue proceeds and
the district’s investment earnings thereon. Expenditures can be
made only according to bond resolutions or by Agency approval.

B Tax Account. To receive ad valorem tax collections, penalties,
and interest. Disbursements are made for all tax collection costs.
When appropriate, and after all collection costs, the funds can be
transferred to the Debt Service Account or General Operating
Account, as appropriate.

B Debt Service Account. To receive capitalized interest from bond
sale, transfers of ad valorem taxes, and accrued interest on bonds
at the date of sale for the purpose of paying the semiannual bond
principal, interest, and paying agent fees.

Investment Accounts

2-30

A primary concern of your Board is the preservation and safety of the
district’s principal. District funds shall be invested to yield the best rate of
return while protecting the principal. Your Board should consider the
financial institution’s strength and its ability to provide collateral, including
compliance with laws and regulations (including arbitrage provisions), the
procedures of the district’s bond resolutions, and Board orders requiring
yield restrictions. Your district’s funds should be invested according to your
Board’s written investment policy.

Y our Board should provide its investment officer the authorization necessary
to allow him to transfer funds to and from the district’s accounts.

®  Escrow Agreements. Any funds that must be escrowed by
Agency order must be invested consistent with the district’s
needs. The agreement should stipulate that the original escrow
amount can only be released to the district by this Agency. The
escrowed amount should be noted on the district’s annual
financial report.

B Arbitrage. Federal restrictions on bond proceeds may restrict the
yield of investments in the Capital Projects Fund and the Debt
Service Fund. Consult with your district’s attorney and financial
advisor for a discussion on the arbitrage rebate requirements.
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Security of Cash and Investments

All of your district’s cash and investments must be secured by deposit
insurance from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or by the
Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC) or by the eligible
financial securities defined in the Texas Public Funds Collateral Act
(Government Chapter 2257; Appendix O). If the cash and investments are
secured by eligible financial securities, those securities should be identified
in your district’s investment policies.

Cash and investments held in the Debt Service Fund should be handled
separately as to security. FDIC Regulation 330.15—Public Unit Accounts

provides for full insurance coverage of an amount up to $/00,000 per
bondholder.

We encourage your district to have safekeeping receipts from its Texas
financial institution on the collateral pledged for each account. The
safekeeping receipt should show the full description of the security
(including CUSIP number), the name of the financial institution making the
pledge, the location where the security is being held, and the district’s name
that is being secured.

Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act
of 1989 (FIRREA)

Under FIRREA Section 1823(e), a financial security agreement (including
a pledge of collateral for a deposit) is not valid against the FDIC unless it is:

B in writing

B an official record of the depository institution as it was executed

m  executed at the same time the district’s asset is acquired by the
depository institution

B approved by the depositing institution’s board of directors or loan

committee, and that approval is reflected in the depositing
institution’s board or loan committee minutes

If any of these provisions are not met, the FDIC avoids a perfected financial
security interest and your district is only entitled to share with the
depository’s other creditors in a pro rata distribution of the depository’s
assets upon the depository’s failure. Make sure your depository meets the
requirements above to prevent jeopardizing your district’s collateral.
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AUDITING GUIDANCE
Audit Report Requirements

The TWC requires your district to prepare an annual financial statement
according to GAAP and to have this statement audited. 4 district is exempt
from this audit requirement if it meets the criteria for filing one of the
following reports:

B Financial Dormancy Affidavit (form TCEQ-0447). A district is
financially dormant if it meets the provisions of TWC Section
49.197. If your district meets these provisions, it may choose to
file either a Financial Dormancy Affidavit or an Annual Financial
Report. The Financial Dormancy Affidavit must be filed at the
end of the calendar year or the district’s fiscal year. We must
receive this document on or before January 31st following the
year of financial inactivity.

B Annual Financial Report (form TCEQ-0722). A district may file
an Annual Financial Report if it meets the provisions of TWC
Section 49.198. If your district meets these provisions it may
choose to file this document instead of an audited financial
statement. We must receive this document within 45 calendar
days after the close of your district’s fiscal year.

The statutes do not give this Agency the authority to extend your district’s
filing date or to substitute other financial documents for those specified in the
law. The Financial Dormancy Affidavit and Annual Financial Report forms
are available from the Agency’s web site (www.tceq.state.tx.us).

Responsibilities
The Board

Contract an Auditor

Your Board must contract with a CPA or a public accountant holding a
permit from the Texas State Board of Public Accountancy to audit the
district’s accounts and records and render an audit opinion on the financial
statements. For more information about choosing and hiring an auditor, see
Consultant Selection on page 1-15 and Engagement Letter on page 1-16
of this Guide’s Chapter on General Financial Guidance.

District Accounting

Your Board is obligated to properly maintain the district’s accounting
system. It must assure that the district’s fiscal records are kept according to
GAAP and that they are ready for the auditor to conduct his audit.
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Financial Statements

Your Board is responsible for governing and managing your district.
Included in that responsibility is the assurance that, except for the Auditor’s
Report, all other components of your district’s audit report are accurately
prepared. This responsibility extends to the TSI if your district is not a TSI
Exempt District (Appendix P). The fact that your Board may delegate the
actual preparation of the documents to others does not relieve them of this
responsibility.

Your Board is also responsible for timely filing the district’s audit report with
this Agency. Refer to the Guide’s Where to File Your Audit Report section
in the General Financial Guidance Chapter on page 1-11 for more
information.

Your district’s audit report must include in the following order:

Annual Filing Affidavit (Appendix N1)

Auditor’s Report (your auditor’s opinion letter; Appendix N2)
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Appendix N3)

Basic Financial Statements (Appendix N4)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Appendix N5)

Required Supplemental Information (Appendix N6)

Texas Supplementary Information (if required; Appendix N7)

Auditor’s Management Letter (if required; Appendix N8)

As most districts must complete our Texas Supplementary Information (TSI,
formerly called supplemental schedules), your Board must ensure that all
applicable TSI have been included in the district’s audit report. If a TSI
schedule does not apply, an explanatory statement must be prepared and
reported in the TSI index or the audit report’s Table of Contents. All
applicable TSI (or an explanatory statement) must be included in your
district’s audit report before we can accept it under TWC Section 49.195.

Your district’s Board or the auditor may decide that additional information
should be included that is not required by this Agency but that information
meets the needs of your district. If your district must present its combining
and individual funds as a comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) it
must also ensure that all applicable TSI have been included in the district’s
audit report. We are not requiring your Board to prepare either a CAFR or a
yellow book audit report; that decision must be made by your Board with the
advice of your district’s independent auditor, based upon your district’s
situation.

Auditor Independence

Your auditor is responsible for assuring his independence from your district
when he accepts the audit engagement; however, your Board should assure
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that its actions will not compromise this relationship. If this independence is
questioned or if your Board senses it has been compromised, even to a small
degree, your Board should consider soliciting proposals from other auditors
and rotating its auditing firm.

The Independent Auditor

Your auditor is also responsible for the manner in which the audit is
performed and for his opinion. The standards and principles which govern
the audit’s preparation do change from time to time. It is your auditor’s
responsibility to remain current with the developments and new
pronouncements within the accounting and auditing profession (particularly
within the area of governmental accounting and auditing). We expect your
auditor to be thoroughly familiar with current pronouncements on
governmental accounting principles and financial reporting.

Your auditor must also be familiar with the four items under Interpretation
101-3 of Rule 101 within the Code of Professional Conduct issued by the
AICPA that addresses the CPA’s independence when a CPA performs other
accounting services for his audit client. And, if your district prepares a
yellow book audit (refer to The Single Audit Act, OMB Circular A-133,
and Federal Grants on page 1-11), then the General Accounting Office’s
national independence rules apply.

The Audit

The TWC requires your district’s audit to be performed according to GAAS.
Your auditor will issue an opinion on whether your district’s Basic Financial
Statements and related statements are presented according to GAAP.

As this Agency and its publications do not set governmental auditing
standards or accounting principles if there are any inconsistencies with the
AICPA’s standards and principles, then the AICPA’s standards and
principles control.

Disclosure Requirements

Information that is essential to fair presentation—but not on the face of the
Basic Financial Statements—should be disclosed in the Notes to the Basic
Financial Statements. Your auditor will make sure that the disclosures
required by GAAP are a part of your reports. Additionally, this Guide
provides that you include the TSI as additional information for the users of
these statements. If your district engages an auditor to audit the TSI, then his
audit report must be modified to include his opinion on the TSI. If your
district does not engage the auditor to audit the TSI, the auditor may modify
his report in accordance with Statement on Auditing Standards No. 8 (as
modified). Also, your district’s bond indentures may require your district to
report additional information that is specific to its bonded debt. If that is the
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case, then you must disclose this additional information to satisfy your
district’s bond reporting requirements.

Compliance Issues

Due to the unique laws that apply to districts, your auditor should be
thoroughly familiar with the laws that govern your district as well as the laws
that apply to most districts and local governments. See Appendix K to
review the most common areas of non-compliance and Appendix O for the
Texas Statutes.

Texas Commission on Environmental Quality

Report Review

TWC Section 49.195 states that the audit report submitted by a district may
be reviewed by the Agency’s executive director and he shall notify the Board
and the district’s auditor if he determines any violations of GAAS, GAAP,
statutes, board rules or if he has any recommendations. It also states that the
Board and the auditor shall remedy objections and correct violations of
which they have been notified before the audit report may be accepted by the
Agency as in compliance with the TWC.

Audit reports submitted to the Agency for filing may be reviewed for:

®m  completeness
B accounting relationships within the Basic Financial Statements

B accounting relationships between the Basic Financial Statements
and the TSI

B appropriate and adequate disclosures
noncompliance issues
your district’s overall financial status

Your district’s audit report may also be reviewed to determine if the audit
was performed according to GAAS and whether your auditor followed
reporting standards. Our review also determines whether your auditor’s
opinion is consistent with the presented basic financial statements. We will
not accept an unqualified opinion if the required statements are missing or if
the Auditor’s Report letter does not conform to the reporting standards.
Refer to the TCEQ’s Role on page 1-24 for more information.
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Appendix A: Sample Capital Asset Classification

Other Capital Assets:

Administmfive Facilities Land Equipment
and Equipment: Buildings Communication
Office Computers
Storage Construction
Warehouse Office
Furniture Software
e SUICE (INCluding Water Rights)  Vehicles
Common ‘fnd Land Structures
Recreational Areas: Buildings Tennis Courts
Equipment Swimming Pools
Street Lighting Other

Infrastructure Assets:

Water Production/
Distribution System:

Wastewater Collection
System:

Wastewater Treatment
Plant:

Stormwater Pumping
Facilities:

Stormwater
Collection System:

Land and Easements

Buildings

Electrical Package
Controls
Generators

Chemical System

Other

Land and Easements

Buildings

Structures

Electrical Package
Controls
Generators

Land and Easements

Buildings

Structures

Electrical Package
Controls
Generators

Land and Easements
Buildings

Pumps

Other

Land and Easements
Land Improvements

Wells

Booster Pumps

Storage Tanks
Ground
Elevated

Distribution Lines

Collection Lines
Gravity
Pressurized

Lift Stations

Other

Equipment
Bar Screens
Blowers
Chemical System
Clarifiers
Lift Stations

Electrical Package
Controls
Generators

Collection Lines
Equipment
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Appendix B: Sample Chart of Accounts

Long-Term Debt
Assets
1500 To Be Provided for Bonded Debt
Liabilities
2510 Bonds Payable, Series
2511 Bonds Payable, Series
2512 Bonds Payable, Series
2513 Bonds Payable, Series

2514
2515

Capital Assets

Bonds Payable, Series
Bonds Payable, Series

You may need additional accounts or subaccounts if you follow the Sample
Capital Asset Classification in Appendix A.

Assets

1310
1311
1312
1313
1314
1315
1316
1317
1318
1351
1352
1353
1354
1401
1403
1407
1409
1411
1413
1415
1417

Land, Easements and Rights-of-Way
Buildings

Water System

Sewage System

Drainage System

Machinery and Equipment
Automobiles and Trucks

Furniture and Fixtures

Engineering Fees

Construction in Progress, Bond Issue
Construction in Progress, Bond Issue
Construction in Progress, Bond Issue
Construction in Progress, Bond Issue

Organizational Costs—Legal Fees

Organizational Costs—Bond Interest

Organizational Costs—Fiscal Agent Fees

Organizational Costs—Bond Interest Expenses
Organizational Costs—Interest on Temporary Investments
Organizational Costs—Election Costs

Organizational Costs—Other Costs

Organizational Costs—Interest on Purchase of Facilities

Fund Balance

3001
3009
3010
3011
3013
3014

Investment in Capital Assets—From Net System Revenues
Investment in Capital Assets—From Investment Revenues
Investment in Capital Assets—From Sale of Bonds

Investment in Capital Assets—Contributed by Developer
Investment in Capital Assets—Contributed by Other Districts
Investment in Capital Assets—Contributed by Governmental Agency
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Capital Projects Fund

Assets

1110 Cash—Capital Projects (establish multiple accounts if different bank
accounts used, 1122, 1123, ...)

1122 Cash in Escrow

1140 Time Deposits for Construction Projects (includes certificates of
deposit, savings certificates and saving accounts—details provided
by schedule)

1141 Certificates of Deposit for Construction Projects

1158 Accrued Investment Interest Receivable

1160 Prepaid Tap Expense

1171 Due from General Fund

1176 Due from Other Districts

1177  Due from Developer—Currently Due

1178 Due from Developer—Deferred (Retainage)

Liabilities

2110 Trade Accounts Payable

2119 Accrued Interest Payable

2120 Short-Term Notes Payable

2125 Due to Other Districts

2126 Due to Developer

2130 Construction Contracts Payable

2140 Construction Contracts Payable—Retained Percentage

2150 Bond Anticipation Notes Payable

2171 Due to General Fund

Fund Balance

3000
3001
3003
3010
3011
3012
3013
3014

3015

Unreserved Fund Balance (Construction fund interest not required to
be transferred)

Reserved—From Net System Revenues

Interest Earnings Not Transferred

Reserved—From Sale of Bonds for Authorized Construction, Prior
Issues (Prior Issues added to title)

Reserved—From Sale of Bonds for Authorized Constriction,

Issue

Reserved—From Sale of Bonds for Authorized Construction,

Issue

Reserved—From Sale of Bonds for Authorized Construction,

Issue

Reserved—From Sale of Bonds for Authorized Construction,

Issue

Reserved—From Sale of Bonds for Authorized Constriction,

Issue
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Fund Transfers

3911
3913
3951
3953

Transferred to General Fund
Transferred to Debt Service Fund
Transferred from General Fund
Transferred from Debt Service Fund

Other Additions to Reserves

3955 Proceeds from Sale of Bonds
3956 Developer Contributions
3957 Governmental Agency Contributions
3958 Other Districts’ Contributions
3959 Bond Anticipation Note Proceeds
3960 Sale of Capital Assets
3961 Regional Water Treatment Plant Rebate

Revenues
5380 Miscellaneous Income
5391 Interest on Temporary Investments

Expenses
7300 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue
7301 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue
7302 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue
7303 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue
7304 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue
7305 Capital Outlay, ~ Bond Issue
7362 Interest Expense on Notes
7395 Other Expense

General Fund

Assets

1110 Cash (establish multiple accounts if different bank accounts used,
1110, 1111, ...)
1122 Cash in Banks for Meter Deposits
1130 Time Deposits (includes certificates of deposit, savings certificate
and savings accounts—details provided by schedule)

1131 Certificates of Deposits
1145 Service Accounts Receivable
1146  Allowance for Uncollectible Service Accounts
1147 Service Account Interest Receivable (included in 1145)
1148 Service Account Penalties Receivable (included in 1145)
1149 Returned Checks
1150 Taxes Receivable
1155 Builder Damages Receivable

1156
1157

Accounts Receivable—Other
Standby Fees Receivable
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1158 Accrued Investment Interest Receivable
1159 Tap Fees Receivable
1160 Prepaid Tap Expense
1161 Prepaid Insurance
1172  Due from Tax Fund
1173 Due from Debt Service Fund
1174 Due from Capital Projects Fund
1176 Due from Other Districts
1190 Material and Supplies
1191 Meters
Liabilities
2110 Trade Accounts Payable
2111 Salaries and Wages Payable

2112
2113
2114
2115
2119
2120
2125
2130
2161
2173
2174
2251
2552
2554
2701

2702
2740
2750

Old Age Survivors Insurance (OASI) Taxes Payable
Withholding Taxes Payable

Employee Retirement Premiums Payable

Group Insurance Premiums Payable

Accrued Interest Payable

Short-Term Notes Payable

Due to Other Districts

Professional Fees Payable (combined with 2110)
Customer Meter Deposits Payable

Due to Debt Service Fund

Due to Capital Projects Fund

Sewer Deposits Payable

Advance from Tax Fund

Advance from Capital Projects Fund

Tap Connections Fees—Advance Payments (Deferred water and
sewer tap fees)

Sewer Tap Connection Fees—Advance Payments
Deferred Revenues—Uncollected Taxes

Deferred Revenues—Uncollected Standby Fees

Fund Balance

3000
3002
3005
3007
3913
3914
3952
3953
3954
3960

Unreserved Fund Balance

Allocated from Net Tax Revenues
Reserved for Operating Expenses
Investment in Inventories

Transferred to Debt Service Fund
Transferred to Capital Projects Fund
Transferred from Tax Fund
Transferred from Debt Service Fund
Transferred from Capital Projects Fund
Sale of Capital Assets
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Revenues: Water

4100
4101
4102
4103
4110
4120

Customer Service Fees—Water

Bulk Water Sales

Water Service Inspection Fees

Service Fees—Other Governmental Units
Water Tap Connection Fees
Reconnection Fees

Revenues: Sewer

4200
4202
4203
4210

Customer Service Fees—Sewer

Service Inspection Fees

Service Fees—Other Governmental Units
Sewer Tap Connection Fees

Revenues: Other

4320
4330
4331
4400
4500
4501
4600
5380
5390
5391
5392
5395
5396

Property Taxes

Penalties and Interest on Service Accounts
Penalties and Interest on Tax Accounts
Collection Agency Income

Standby Fees

Sewer Availability Charges

Tap Connection Fees

Miscellaneous Income

Deposits Forfeited

Interest on Temporary Investments
Gain on Sale of Investments

Sale of Capital Assets

Rental and Lease Income

Water Service Expenses

6100
6111
6112
6113
6114
6115
6116
6134
6135
6136
6137
6138
6141
6142
6143
6144
6145

Bulk Water Purchase

Salaries and Wages

Employee Retirement Premiums
Group Insurance Premiums
Employers OASI Tax Expense
Workmen’s Compensation Premiums
Labor Applied to Tap Connection Expense
Contract Labor

Maintenance and Repairs

Meter Installation

Meter Reading

Legal Notices and Other Publications
Fuel and Lubricants

Chemicals

Small Tools

Repair and Maintenance—Materials
Meter Expenses
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6146
6149
6150
6153
6155
6157
6158
6160
6161
6170
6171
6180

Materials Applied to Tap Connection Expense
Other Consumable Supplies and Materials
Postage

Insurance

Uncollectible Accounts

Rents and Leases—Equipment

Rents and Leases—Space

Damage Claims (Credit Account)
Garbage Collection Expense

Tap Connection—Materials and Labor
Tap Connection—Contract

Reconnection Expense

Sewer Service Expenses

6201
6211
6212
6213
6214
6215
6223
6234
6235
6241
6242
6244
6246
6249
6250
6253
6255
6257
6259
6260
6270
6271
6275
6285

Purchased Sewer Services

Salaries and Wages

Employee Retirement Premiums
Group Insurance Premiums
Employers FICA Tax Expense
Workmen’s Compensation Premiums
Management of STP facilities
Contract Labor

Maintenance and Repairs

Fuel and Lubricants

Chemicals

Repair and Maintenance—Materials
Materials Applied to Tap Connection Expense
Other Consumable Supplies and Materials
Postage

Insurance

Uncollectible Accounts

Rents and Leases—Equipment

Other Expense

Damage Claims (Credit Account)

Tap Connection—Materials and Labor
Tap Connection—Contract

Sewer Inspection Expense

Costs Reimbursed by Other Districts

Other Operating Expenses

6310
6311
6312
6313
6314
6315
6320
6321

Director Fees

Salaries and Wages

Employee Retirement Premiums
Group Insurance Premiums
Employers OASI Tax Expense
Workmens’ Compensation Premiums
Legal Fees

Auditing Fees
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6322
6323
6324
6325
6326
6332
6333
6334
6335
6338
6340
6344
6349
6350
6351
6352
6353
6354
6357
6358
6359
6380
6399
6600
7306
7362
7395

Tax Fund

Engineering Fees

Management and Consulting
Laboratory Expenses

Election Expense

Permit Fees

Service Account Collection
Bookkeeping

Contract Labor

Maintenance and Repairs

Legal Notices and Other Publications
Printing and Office Supplies

Repair and Maintenance—Materials
Other Consumable Supplies and Materials
Postage

Telephone

Utilities

Insurance and Surety Bond Premiums
Travel and Per Diem

Rents and Leases—Equipment

Rents and Leases—Space

Other Expenses

Transfer Fees—Connection Charges
Garbage Expense

Tap Connection Expense

Capital Outlay

Interest on Notes

Miscellaneous Expense

Refer to Purpose of the Tax Fund—Debt Service Taxes on page C-11 and
Debt Service Fund— Explanation on page C-13 for information on this

fund.
Assets
1110 Cash—Tax Collections
1140 Time Deposits—Tax Collections (includes certificates of deposit,
saving certificates and saving accounts; details provided by schedule)
1141 Certificates of Deposit—Tax Collections
1150 Tax Accounts Receivable
1151 Tax Liens Receivable
1152 Tax Account Interest Receivable
1153 Tax Account Penalties Receivable
1158 Accrued Investment Interest Receivable
1160 Allowance for Uncollectible Taxes
1171 Due from General Fund
1173 Due from Debt Service Fund
Liabilities
2110 Trade Accounts Payable
2131 Purchased and Contract Service Fees Payable
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2171 Due to General Fund

2173 Due to Debt Service Fund

2175 Due to Taxpayers—Overpayment

2176 Due to Assessor Collector—Tax Certificate

21## Due to Taxpayers—Appraisal District Adjustments

2701 Taxes Collected—Advanced Payments (Uncertified rolls)
2740 Deferred Revenues—Uncollected Debt Service Taxes

Fund Balances

3001 Allocated-Fund Net System Revenues
3003 Interest Earnings Not Transferred

Fund Transfers

3911 Transferred to General Fund
3913 Transferred to Debt Service Fund

Revenues

4320 Property Taxes

4321 Appraisal District Adjustment

4322 Bank Franchise Tax

4331 Penalties and Interest on Tax Accounts
4332 15% Penalty

5380 Miscellaneous Income

5391 Interest on Temporary Investments

Expenses

6320 Legal Fees

6330 Appraisal District

6331 Tax Assessor-Collector

6338 Legal Notice and Other Publications
6340 Printing and Office Supplies

6350 Postage

6353 Insurance and Surety Bond Premiums
63## Other Tax Expenses

7391 Foreclosure Costs

Debt Service Fund

Assets

1110 Cash—Debt Service

1121 Cash with Fiscal Agent (Paying Agent)

1140 Time Deposits for Debt Service (includes certificates of deposits,
savings certificates and saving accounts—details provided by
schedule)

1141 Certificates of Deposit for Debt Service

1158 Accrued Investment Interest Receivable

1171 Due from General Fund

1172 Due from Tax Fund

1175 Due from Other Governmental Agencies

1501 To be Provided for Bonded Debt
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Liabilities

2119
2121
2131
2135
2171
2750

Accrued Interest Payable

Tax Anticipation Notes Payable

Purchased and Contract Service Fees Payable
Accrues Interest on Bonds at Date of Sale
Due to General Fund

Unpresented Coupons

Fund Balance

3000

3003
3009
3010
3011
3012
3013
3014
3030

Reserved Fund Balance (for retirement of bond interest during
construction)
Interest Earnings Not Transferred

Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction Period, Issue
Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction Period, Issue
Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction Period, Issue
Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction Period, Issue
Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction Period, Issue
Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction Period, Issue
Special Reserve

Fund Transfers

3911 Transferred to General Fund

3914 Transferred to Capital Project Fund

3951 Transferred from General Fund

3952 Transferred from Tax Fund

3954 Transferred from Capital Projects Fund
Revenues

5391 Interest on Temporary Investments
Expenses

7360 Bond Interest Expense

7362 Interest on Notes

7363 Fiscal Agent Fees (Paying Agent Fees)

7364 Bond Issue Expense

7369 Other Debt Service Expense

7395 Bond Principal
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Appendix C: Examples of Common Accounting
and Bookkeeping Procedures

In this Appendix the use of the term “monthly” means on a regular cycle,
based on the needs of your district. Some of the sample accounting entries
have related notes following the entries.

General Fund—Explanation

Purpose of Fund. The General Fund is used for all operations of your
district’s water and wastewater system including related revenues from
service installations. The General Fund should include all general,
administrative, and operating expenses of your district. District activities that
do not belong in other funds should be included in the General Fund.

Classification of Expenses. The sample Chart of Accounts in Appendix B
classifies expenses between water, wastewater, and other operating expenses.
These classifications are needed to determine the separate cost of water and
wastewater services for rate making and obtaining governmental grants. Y our
district may need to prorate some expenses between water, wastewater, and
other expense classifications. Your bookkeeper may need its vendors and
contractors to bill the water and wastewater expenses separately.

General Fund—Water and Wastewater Billings
General Fund—Returned Checks

Explanation. Districts generally bill monthly for the water and wastewater
services based on actual usage or a flat rate.

Accounting Theory. Water and wastewater billings should be recorded
monthly. The billing should include service through the end of the month or
a date prior to the end of the month being recorded. If a service date after the
end of the month is used, revenues are overstated and expenses are not
properly matched with revenues. Districts may prorate revenues and
expenses for part of a month.

Your district’s billing agent may have a small number of returned checks on
hand at the end of the month that will be part of the cash balance at month
end. Older checks may have been charged back to accounts receivable.
Returned check transactions should be included in the operating report from
the billing agent and recorded in the General Ledger. The balance
outstanding at the end of the month should be reconciled to the list of
returned checks furnished by the billing agent.

Records or Information Required. Operating report from the district’s
billing agent.
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Accounting Entries. The difference between beginning and ending Service
Accounts Receivable should be recorded for the Service Accounts
Receivable account. If the balance has increased, the entry should be a debit.
If it has decreased, the entry should be a credit. Likewise, the net activity of
Returned Checks should be recorded in this entry. If the total amount of
returned checks receivable increased during the month, the entry should be
a debit. If it has decreased, the entry should be a credit. Revenue accounts
should be credited for the amounts billed for the month.

Billing Recorded

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX

1145 Service Accounts Receivable XX or XX
1149 Returned Checks XX or XX
4100 Customer Service Fees—Water XX
4200 Customer Service Fees—Sewer XX
4330 Penalties and Interest on Service Accounts XX

General Fund—Standby Fees

Explanation. As authorized under TWC Section 49.231, your district may
assess Standby Fees on lot owners who have water and wastewater service
available, but have not utilized service. Standby Fees raise revenues for
facilities which have been provided but are not being used.

Accounting Theory. Standby Fees should be recorded on the accrual basis
in the General or Debt Service Fund, depending on which fund the Standby
Fee is dedicated. In some cases, it may be necessary to record these fees on
a cash basis. The method of recording depends on the Commission Order and
your district’s fiscal year.

Records or Information Required. Operating report from your district’s
billing agent.

Initial Billing, Billed Separately, Reported on an Accrual Basis

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1157 Standby Fees Receivable XX
4500 Standby Fees XX

Billed Separately, Reported on an Accrual Basis

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX

1157 Standby Fees Receivable XX or XX
4500 Standby Fees XX

The difference between Standby Fees Receivable at the beginning and end
of the month should be debited if the end of month amount is greater, or

Water District Financial Management Guide
TCEQ publication RG-080 = Revised March 2004



credited if the beginning of the month amount is greater. Standby Fees should
be credited for the amount billed.

Billed as Part of Water and Sewer Billing, Reported on an Accrual Basis

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX

1145 Service Accounts Receivable XX or XX
4500 Standby Fees XX

Service Accounts Receivable should be treated as Standby Fees Receivable
in the above entry, however only the receivable amounts on Standby Fees
should be considered.

Initial Billing, Billed Separately, Revenue Reported on a Cash Basis

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1157 Standby Fees Receivable XX
2750 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Standby Fees XX

Billed Separately, Revenue Reported on a Cash Basis

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX

1157 Standby Fees Receivable XX or XX
2750 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Standby Fees XX or XX
4500 Standby Fees XX

Standby Fees Receivable should be treated as above. If Standby Fees
Receivable is debited, the Deferred Revenue account should be credited for
the same amount. If the Standby Fees Receivable account is credited, the
Deferred Revenue account should be debited for the same amount. Cash
should be debited and Standby Fees credited for the amounts actually
received during the month.

General Fund—Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounting Theory. To avoid overstating revenues at the date such amounts

are recorded, an allowance for doubtful accounts should be provided for

those amounts that may ultimately be uncollectible. If the amount that is

considered to be doubtful is substantial (after considering the following

factors) the allowance should be recorded.

1. Customer deposits. Security deposits may substantially offset any loss on
the uncollectible accounts.

2. The collection policy of the district. District policy may be to discontinue
service after two months of unpaid charges (except for unpaid taxes).

3. Collection experience of the district. This may be influenced by the
economic status of the district and by the district’s collection policy.
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4. Delinquency Status. The age and amount of accounts outstanding for long
periods such as 90 days or more.

5. Large accounts. Financial status of customers with large delinquent
balances.

In many cases your district will decide that no allowance is necessary. It is
reasonable to omit the recording of an allowance if the effect on the balance

sheet and revenues is not significant.

Records or Information Required. Operating report from your district’s
billing agent.

Allowance Recorded

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
6155 Uncollectible Accounts XX
6255 Uncollectible Accounts XX
1146 Allowance for Uncollectible Service Accounts XX

The Allowance Account should be reviewed periodically to see that its level
is appropriate given the current account balances and other circumstances
that may affect the collection of accounts.

Write-off of Uncollectible Accounts

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1146 Allowance for Uncollectible Service Accounts XX
1145 Service Accounts Receivable XX

The amount of the entry above should correspond to the total of the specific
Service Accounts Receivable balances to be written off.

General Fund—Operating Reserve

Explanation. Some bond orders require a district to establish an operating
reserve to cover two months of operating expenses and may require the
excess amount over the reserve be transferred to a Special Reserve Fund (part
of the Debt Service Fund) until a specified amount has been accumulated in
the Special Reserve Fund.

Accounting Theory. To comply with the bond order requirement for an
operating reserve, the district must estimate the required amount (two months
operating expenses) and record this amount in an operating reserve until cash
in excess of liabilities exceeds this amount. The district may be required to
transfer the excess cash to the Debt Service Fund when cash has accumulated
in excess of the reserve amount. This should be done by an action of your
district’s Board.
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Records or Information Required:
1. Bond order
2. Your Board’s determination of the district’s operating reserve needs

Initial Establishment of Operating Reserve

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3000 Unreserved Fund Balance XX
3005 Reserved for Operating Expenses XX

The amount of the entry above should be equal to the amount determined by

your Board.
Adjustment of Operating Reserve
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3000 Unreserved Fund Balance XX or XX
3005 Reserved for Operating Expenses XX or XX

A credit to the Reserve Account #3005 should be made to increase the
reserve and a debit made to decrease it. An equal offset should be made to
the Unreserved Fund Balance account.

Transferred to Debt Service Fund

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3913 Transferred to Debt Service Fund XX
1110 Cash XX

The entry above should be made for the amount actually transferred which
is in excess of the required reserve amount. There will also be a related entry
to the Special Reserve—Debt Service Fund.

General Fund—Taps Installations and Sewer Inspection Fees

Explanation.

Taps. A tap is the line that connects the district’s main water and wastewater
lines to the property to be served. The line may be designed to serve one (a
single tap) or two (a double tap) customers. A normal tap (short tap) would
connect near the front of the lot, other taps may connect at the rear of the lot
(long taps). A single tap is more expensive per tap. Most districts utilize the
double tap.

Meter and Box. A meter and box must be installed prior to providing water
service. This generally is not done until the tap connection fee is paid and
service is requested. When double taps are installed and only one customer
requires service, only one meter is installed.

Installation of Taps. Generally, taps are installed as requested by builders,
but some districts install taps for an entire street at one time. Occasionally,
taps are installed during the construction phase with bond monies.
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Taps Installed by Others. Occasionally, developers or builders may install
taps which are reimbursable by the district or are donated to the district. The
district may establish a tap fee rate order which excludes the tap or meter and
requires the customer to pay the operator directly for such items.

Rate Order. Tap fees are established by a rate order which is passed by your
Board. All charges should be made to customers based on this rate order.

Residential Tap. Tap fees for residential customers include the tap
installation and the meter and box. This fee may include the wastewater
inspection although many districts collect a separate fee for this.

Commercial Tap. Commercial customers are generally charged a percentage
of the cost for the tap installations (the type of installations vary
substantially), plus a variable amount for the meter based on size or cost.
Commercial customers may also be charged an additional amount based on
the square footage of land owned by the customer.

Accounting Theory.

General. To match revenue and expense, tap fee revenue and the related
expense should be reported within the same accounting period. Although this
matching of revenue and expense should be made monthly, this may not be
practical. Journal entries may be made annually to defer revenue or expense.

Tap Fees and Expense. Tap fees should be reported as revenue when
collected. A receivable for tap fees should be recorded if the district installed
taps prior to collection. Tap expense should be accrued for installations made
through the end of your district’s fiscal year.

Sewer Inspection Fees and Expense. Sewer inspection fees should be
recorded on a cash basis. Wastewater inspection expense should be accrued
as billed. Matching of these fees and expense may not be necessary unless
this practice substantially affects net revenues.

Taps Installed with Bond Money. The cost of taps installed with bond money
in the construction fund should be transferred to the General Fund and
recorded as an asset of the General Fund as Prepaid Tap Expense. This asset
should then be charged to expense as the related tap fees are reported.

Taps Installed by Others. Reimbursable tap installations by the developers
should be recorded as a liability of the General Fund. If this amount is
recorded as prepaid tap expense, it should be charged to expense as the
applicable tap fees are recorded.

Tap installations donated to the district may be reported in the capital assets
as donated assets. Taps installed by customers or tap charges paid directly to
operators by customers may be recorded in the capital assets. These
transactions need to be recorded according to the accounting policies adopted
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by the district’s Board (in consultation with the district’s bookkeeper and
auditor) and as documented in the district’s Manual (District Manual on
page 1-18).

Prepaid or Deferred Taps. 1f the number of tap fees collected exceeds the
number of installation costs accrued (expense), the excess number of fees
collected should be deferred based on the amounts collected from customers.
If the reverse situation occurs, the excess expense incurred should be
deferred in the amount of cost of the tap installations to the district.

Unless the amount of prepaid or deferred taps is substantial, such amounts
can be reversed in the month after year end and recorded again only at the
designated interval. If they are substantial, the prepaid amounts should be
written off to expense at the time the corresponding tap fees are reported.
Likewise, deferred tap fees may be recognized as revenue at the time
corresponding tap expenses are incurred.

Replacement of Taps and Meters. Replacements of meters or a reinstallment
of a tap should be charged to repairs and maintenance. Any reimbursement
received by the district should be reported as a credit to this expense account.

Records or Information Required.
1. Schedule of tap fees and expense designed to reconcile the number of
installations received (tap fees) and installations accrued (tap expense).

Number of Installations

Fees Expense

Beginning of Year

Deferred Fees X

Prepaid Expense X
During the Year

Fees Received X

Expense Accrued X
Replacements X
End of Year

Deferred Fees (X)

Prepaid Expense (X)
Number of Installations Reported in

Revenues and Expenses X

[ X

Xindicates entry  (X) indicates end-of-period entry

The difference between the total number of tap fees and total number of
tap expenses should be the number of tap replacements made during the
period. After reconciling the tap installations based on the number of
connections, the proper amount of prepaid or deferred taps can be
determined. Number of taps should be furnished by the district’s
operator.
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2. Operating Report from your district’s billing agent.

Tap Fee Revenue
Receipt of Tap Fees

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX
4600 Tap Connection Fees XX

Adjustment for Deferred Tap Fees

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
4600 Tap Connection Fees XX
2701 Tap Connection Fees—Advanced Payments XX

Reversal of Deferred Tap Fees in the following period

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2701 Tap Connection Fees—Advanced Payments XX
4600 Tap Connection Fees XX

Tap Expense

Payment of Tap Expense

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
6600 Tap Connection Expense XX
1110 Cash XX

Adjustment for Prepaid Tap Expense

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1160 Prepaid Tap Expense XX
6600 Tap Connection Expense XX

Reversal of Prepaid Tap Expense in the following period

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
6600 Tap Connection Expense XX
1160 Prepaid Tap Expense XX

Other Tap Installations

Taps Installed with Bond Money

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1160 Prepaid Tap Expense XX
3954 Transferred from Capital Projects Fund XX

There will also be a related entry to the Tap Installations—Capital Projects
Fund.
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Reimbursable Tap Installation by Another Party

Accounting Entries: Dr.

1160 Prepaid Tap Expense XX
—OR-

6600 Tap Connection Expense XX

2110 Trade Accounts Payable

Sewer Inspection Fees and Expense

Receipt of Sewer Inspection Fees
Accounting Entries: Dr.
1110 Cash XX
4202 Service Inspection Fees

Payment for Sewer Inspection Charge

Accounting Entries: Dr.
6275 Sewer Inspection Expense XX
1110 Cash

General Fund—Maintenance Tax

Cr.

XX

Cr.

XX

Cr.

XX

Explanation. A maintenance tax may be assessed by your district to
supplement its General Fund revenues. It is levied as a part of the ad valorem
tax based on assessed values and may be collected in the General or Tax

Funds as shown by the entries presented below.

Accounting Theory. The maintenance tax should be accrued in the General
Fund as collected from the taxpayer by the Tax Fund unless ad valorem taxes

are reported as levied.

Maintenance Taxes Collected by the Tax Fund

Collection of the Maintenance Tax

Accounting Entries: Dr.
1172 Due from Tax Fund XX
4320 Property Taxes

4331 Penalties and Interest on Tax Assessment

Cr.

XX
XX

The entry above should be in the amount of maintenance taxes actually
collected by the Tax Fund. There will also be a related entry to the Tax

Fund—Explanation.

Transfer from the Tax Fund
Accounting Entries: Dr.
1110 Cash XX
1172 Due from Tax Fund
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The previous entry should be for the amount actually transferred to the

General Fund. There will also be a related entry to the Tax Fund—
Explanation.

Maintenance Taxes Collected by the General Fund

Levy of the Maintenance Tax

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1150 Taxes Receivable XX
2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX

The entry above should be for the total amount of the maintenance tax levy.

Collection of the Maintenance Tax

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX
2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX
1150 Taxes Receivable XX
4320 Property Taxes XX

The entry above should be for only those amounts actually received.

General Fund—Prepaid Insurance

Explanation. Y our district typically pays its insurance premiums for a one-
year period.

Accounting Theory. To report insurance expense according to the matching
principle and avoid fluctuations in net revenues caused by the timing of
payments, your district should amortize its insurance premiums over the life
of the policy. Due to the small amount involved, it will probably not be
necessary to amortize fidelity bond premiums and small insurance

endorsements.
Payment of Insurance Premium
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1161 Prepaid Insurance XX
1110 Cash XX

The entry above should be for the entire amount paid.

Monthly Amortization of Prepaid Insurance

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
6153 Insurance XX
6253 Insurance XX
6353 Insurance and Surety Bond Premiums XX
1161 Prepaid Insurance XX
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The previous entry should reflect one month of premium cost or one-twelfth
of the yearly premium.

Tax Fund—Debt Service Taxes

Purpose of Fund. The Tax Fund has been established to account for the tax
assessing and collecting functions of your district. Legally, this fund is a part
of the Debt Service Fund and is not specified as a separate fund in your
district’s bond orders.

Use of Funds. Monies in the Tax Fund can be used only to pay the expenses
of collecting taxes. The balance of the fund must be transferred to the Debt
Service Fund, except for maintenance tax collections.

Accounting Theory. To report ad valorem tax revenues, these taxes should
be available to pay the expenditures of the district.

Records or Information Required. Tax assessor/collector report.

Debt Service Tax Levied

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1150 Tax Accounts Receivable XX
2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX

The entry above should be made for the total amount of debt service taxes

levied.
Assessment of Penalties and Interest

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1152 Tax Account Interest Receivable XX

1153 Tax Account Penalties Receivable XX

2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX

Collection of Taxes

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Tax Collections XX

2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX

6331 Tax Assessor—Collection Fees XX
1150 Tax Accounts Receivable XX
1152 Tax Account Interest Receivable XX
1153 Tax Account Penalties Receivable XX
4320 Property Taxes XX
4331 Penalties and Interest on Tax Accounts XX
2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX

The previous entry for Cash should include all amounts received by your
district. The Deferred Revenue and the receivable accounts should be debited
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and credited for the amounts actually paid by the taxpayers. This may be
greater than the amounts received by the district due to tax collector fees.

Adjustment of Roll
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2750 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX or XX
1150 Tax Accounts Receivable XX or XX

An increase in the tax levy would cause a debt to Taxes Receivable and a
decrease would cause a credit. An equal offset should be made to the
Deferred Revenue account.

Overpayment of Taxes

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Tax Collections XX
2175 Due to Taxpayers—Overpayment XX

Transfer of Cash to Debt Service Fund

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3913 Transferred to Debt Service Fund XX
1110 Cash—Tax Collections XX

Tax Fund—Maintenance Tax

Explanation. A maintenance tax may be assessed by your district to
supplement the revenues of the district’s General Fund. It is levied as part
of the ad valorem tax based on values and will be collected in the district’s
Tax Fund. Districts which collect their maintenance tax in the General Fund
should see page C-9 for the appropriate entries.

Accounting Theory. A maintenance tax is revenue to your district’s General
Fund and should not be reported as revenue by the Tax Fund. It should be
recorded as payable to the General Fund when collected. Although the costs
of assessing and collecting maintenance taxes and penalties and interest on
delinquent maintenance taxes should be reported separately from debt service
taxes, such amounts are partially offsetting and usually insignificant and are
generally not considered in reporting maintenance taxes owed to the General
Fund.

Tax Roll Levied

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1150 Tax Accounts Receivable XX
2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX

There will also be a related entry to the Maintenance Tax—General Fund.
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Assessment of Penalty and Interest

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1152 Tax Account Interest Receivable XX
1153 Tax Account Penalties Receivable XX
2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX

Collection of Maintenance Tax

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Tax Collections XX
2740 Deferred Revenue—Uncollected Taxes XX
1150 Tax Accounts Receivable XX
2171 Due to General Fund XX

All amounts in this entry should be for the amount of maintenance taxes
collected. ~There will also be a related entry to the Maintenance
Tax—~General Fund.

Transfer to General Fund

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2171 Due to General Fund XX
1110 Cash—Tax Collection XX

There will also be a related entry to the General Fund—Maintenance Tax.

Debt Service Fund—Explanation

Purpose of Fund. The Debt Service Fund was established by your district’s
bond orders to accumulate resources for the retirement of your district’s
bonded debt. It’s resources are received from transfers from the Tax Fund
or General Fund and interest earnings. Your district’s bond orders and/or the
Agency may require that interest earnings from other funds be transferred to
the Debt Service Fund.

Accounting Theory. According to the modified accrual basis of accounting,
principal and interest expenditures should be reported when paid (cash basis).
Interest revenues should be reported when earned, and property taxes should
be reported when received. In the examples below, we assume that debt
service taxes are being collected by the Tax Fund and then transferred to the
Debt Service Fund.

Upon consolidation of the Tax Fund into the Debt Service Fund for financial
reporting purposes, the revenues recorded in the Tax Fund will be properly
reflected in the district’s Debt Service Fund. If no Tax Fund is being used,
the debt service tax entries shown in the Tax Fund section should be made
in the Debt Service Fund directly, then no transfer of funds would be
necessary.

Records of Information Required. Paid bonds and interest coupons, or a
cremation certificate according to state law.
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Transfer from the Tax Fund

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX
3952 Transferred from Tax Fund XX

There will also be a related entry to the Transferred to Debt Service
Fund—Tax Fund.

Payment of Debt Due Upon Maturity

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
7360 Bond Interest Expense XX
7863 Fiscal Agent Fees XX
7395 Bond Principal XX
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX

Debt Service Fund—Timing of Bond Payments

Explanation. If your district’s bonded debt is due on the date following year
end, it may be necessary for your district to pay it’s principal and interest
requirements a few days in advance of the due date. Thus, the payment will
occur within one fiscal year when the due date of these payments is within
the following year.

Accounting Theory. Once your district transfers its money to its paying
agent, it should reduce the cash balance and recognize the payment as an
expenditure of the Debt Service Fund. Your district no longer has control
over these cash balances and legally these funds are no longer assets of your
district. Accordingly, principal and interest paid in one year which is due the
following year should be reported as an expenditure in the year paid. Debt
service payments are being reported on a cash basis and it’s not proper to
report the funds as assets on your district’s balance sheet after the transfer of
the funds to your district’s fiscal agent has taken place.

Debt Service Fund—Accrued Interest Received on Bonds
at Date of Sale

Explanation. The interest from the date of the bonds up to the date of the
sale is collected from the bond purchaser. This amount is remitted to your
district since your district will pay the bondholder interest accrued from the
date of the bonds.

Accounting Theory. Interest accrued prior to the sale of the bonds is not
revenue to your district since it had no cash invested for this period of time.
Also, your district should not have interest expense for a period prior to the
date of the sale of the bonds. Thus, accrued interest received at the date of
the sale of the bonds should be recorded as a liability and offset against
interest expense resulting in a net interest expense for your district from the
date of the sale of the bonds through the interest coupon maturity date.
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Sale of Bonds

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX
2135 Accrued Interest on Bonds at Date of Sale XX

The amount of the entry above should be the amount of interest accrued from
the data of the bonds through the sale date.

Payment of First Interest Coupon

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2135 Accrued Interest on Bonds at Date of Sale XX
7360 Bond Interest Expense XX
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX

The bond interest expense recognized is only for the interest accrued from
the sale date through the coupon maturity date.

Debt Service Fund—Bond Interest Reserve

Explanation. Many bond orders provide that funds be set aside sufficient to
pay your district’s bond interest during a specified period (usually two
years). These funds are from the remainder of the bond issue proceeds and
are earmarked to pay interest during the required time.

Accounting Theory. The amount specified by your district’s bond orders to
pay the bond interest during the district’s construction period should be
deposited in the Debt Service Fund and separately recorded as a bond interest
reserve. If your district’s bond orders require the bond interest to be paid
from this reserve from the date of the bonds, then the full amount of the first
interest payment should be charged against this reserve. If the bond orders
provide for the bond interest to be paid from the date of the sale of the bonds,
then the amount charged to the bond interest reserve should be reduced by
the accrued interest received on bonds at the date of the sale. Even though
cash may not be physically segregated, it must be available for use
exclusively as required under your district’s bond orders.

Records or Information Required. Bond order and the related amortization
schedule (which relates the amount deposited in the Debt Service Fund to the

interest due during the specified period).

Sale of Bonds

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX
3009 Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction

Period, Issue XX
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Payment of Interest from Reserve

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
7360 Bond Interest Expense XX
3009 Reserved for Bond Interest During Construction

Period, Issue XX
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX
3000 Reserved Fund Balance XX

All amounts in the entry above should be for the interest payment amount.

Debt Service Fund—Special Reserve

Explanation. Bond orders frequently require your district to accumulate cash
in a special reserve to be used only if your district is unable to otherwise
meet its debt service requirements. Cash for this reserve is generally
deposited in the Debt Service Fund without physical segregation of cash. The
special reserve usually has one or more of the following characteristics:

1. The amount ultimately required in the reserve is subject to a maximum
limit (the following year’s debt service requirement or the average annual
debt service requirement).

2. A fixed percentage of the principal and interest requirement is added to
the reserve monthly using revenues from the General Fund if available,
or tax revenues if the revenues are not adequate.

3. Amounts are to be accumulated in the reserve to the extent that cash in
the General Fund exceeds what is needed to pay two months operating
expenses.

Accounting Theory. A general ledger account should be established to
account for the amount of the Debt Service Fund which has been
accumulated to meet the requirements of the special reserve. Amounts
transferred to the Debt Service Fund which have been identified as being part
of this reserve and other amounts in the Debt Service Fund not necessary to
meet current maturities should be transferred to this reserve until your district
accumulates adequate resources over time.

Records or Information Required. Your Board’s resolution approving
transfers to the Debt Service Fund’s special reserve.

Transfer from General Fund for Special Reserve

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX
3000 Reserved Fund Balance XX
3030 Special Reserve XX
3951 Transferred from General Fund XX
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All amounts in the previous entry should reflect the amount transferred from
the General Fund.

Transfer of Amounts in Debt Service Fund to Special Reserve

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3000 Reserved Fund Balance XX
3009 Special Reserve XX

Capital Projects Fund—Explanation

Purpose of Fund. The Capital Projects Fund’s purpose is to account for the
financial resources designated to construct or acquire capital facilities and
improvements. Such resources are derived principally from proceeds of the
sale of bonds.

Accounting Theory. Implementation of the modified accrual basis of
accounting for the Capital Projects Fund does not present any changes in the
transactions recorded or the timing of those transactions from those that
would be recorded using the full accrual method.

Uses of Proceeds. The cash received from the bond sale must be spent
according to the TWC, the applicable bond order, and the applicable

engineering estimate as approved by this Agency.

Sale of Bonds

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX
3955 Proceeds from Sale of Bonds XX

Related Entries: Long-Term Debt—Explanation
Capital Projects Fund—Escrowed Cash
Debt Service Fund—Accrued Interest
Received on Bonds at Date of Sale
Debt Service Fund—Bond Interest Reserve

Payment for Construction Costs

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
7300 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Funds XX

The total expenditure amount should be recorded as a capital outlay
regardless of whether the whole amount will be capitalized in the Capital
Asset Register. In this entry, we assume that the district’s construction costs
are not reimbursed by a third party. See Capital Projects Fund—Developer
Contributions on page C-20.
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Payment of District Organizational Costs

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
7300 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Funds XX

As above, the total amount of organizational costs should be recorded as a
capital outlay regardless of your district’s policy of capitalizing its
organizational costs.

There will also be a related entry to the Capital Asset Register.

Capital Projects Fund—Escrowed Cash

Explanation: In connection with the sale of bonds we may require your
district to escrow (place in the custody of a third party) a portion of the bond
sale proceeds. Also, cash may be escrowed in connection with a joint
construction project between two districts. The accounting records of a
district should distinguish between funds that are available for expenditure
and those held in escrow. Escrowed funds are typically released upon the
satisfactory completion of a project or the occurrence of a specified event.

Placement of Funds in Escrow

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1122 Cash in Escrow XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects XX

If your district’s funds are placed in escrow at the same time your district’s
bond proceeds are received, this entry can be performed with the entry for the
receipt of the bond proceeds.

Release of Escrow Funds

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Capital Projects XX
—OR-
2130 Construction Contracts Payable XX
1122 Cash in Escrow XX

The appropriate debit will be made depending on whether funds are paid out
of the escrow fund or returned to your district’s cash account for payment.

Capital Projects Fund—Contract Payable

Explanation: In connection with the construction of facilities, your district
is billed monthly for 100% of construction work done, but is required to
timely pay for 90% of the work done with the remaining 10% due after
completion of the facilities. This 10% portion is your district’s retainage.
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Accounting Theory: The full cost of construction should be recorded as the
work progresses, whether the amount is due now or at a subsequent date. As
a practical matter, if the contractor bills through a date subsequent to your
district’s fiscal year end, it is not necessary to prorate these amounts through
year end unless the amounts are unusually large or the period of time is a
month or longer.

Construction Invoices Accrued Prior to Payment

Construction Draw Accrued

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
7300 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue XX

2130 Construction Contracts Payable XX
2140 Construction Contracts Payable, Retained Percentage XX

Construction Draw Paid

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2130 Construction Contracts Payable XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX

Construction Invoice Not Accrued Prior to Payment

Construction Draw Paid

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
7300 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue XX

1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX
2140 Construction Contracts Payable, Retained Percentage XX

Both Scenarios

Payment of Construction Retainage
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2140 Construction Contracts Payable, Retained Percentage XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX

Capital Projects Payable—Bond Anticipation Notes Payable

Explanation. Bond anticipation notes payable may be issued for any purpose
for which bonds were previously voted or issued to refund previously issued
bond anticipation notes. Your district may agree with the purchaser of the
note that your district will use the proceeds of any sale of bonds to retire
these notes. The rates and terms are prescribed by state law.

Accounting Theory. Bond anticipation notes should only be recorded as a
liability of the Capital Projects Fund if your district has not taken all legal
steps necessary to refinance the bond anticipation notes or if your district
does not have the ability or intent to refinance the note on a long-term basis.
If legal steps have been taken and the ability and intent of your district is
present, the bond anticipation notes should be recorded as liabilities.
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Records or Information Required. Copy of bond anticipation note and
receipt of funds.
Proceeds of Notes

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX
2150 Bond Anticipation Notes Payable XX XX

Accrual of Interest

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
7362 Interest Expense on Notes XX
2119 Accrual Interest Payable XX

Interest should be recorded on the accrual basis of accounting.

Payoff of Note
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2119 Accrued Interest Payable XX
2150 Bond Anticipation Notes Payable XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX

Capital Projects Fund—Developer Contributions

Explanation. Most developers must contribute an amount generally equal to
30% of the cost of your district’s drainage, water lines, wastewater lines, and
related engineering costs as a condition for the Agency’s approval of bonds.
In some cases, the developer may advance funds on behalf of your district
and accept reimbursement net of the portion of the cost to be paid by the
developer. In other cases your district will pay all costs and bill the developer
for his part. The developer and your district may also pay their respective
parts directly to the contractor and/or engineer (Rule 293.47).

Accounting Theory. Only expenditures made by your district should be
recorded as capital outlay in your district’s records. Construction and other
costs paid directly by another party are not expenditures of your district,
although they may be recorded as capital assets. Reimbursements to your
district by the developer should be recorded as developer contributions and
should not be recorded as a credit to the asset cost.

Receivable from Developer. Developer contributions should be accrued as
the related construction costs are incurred by your district, including the
retainage portion. The exclusion of a developer receivable understates your
district’s remaining resources. Since your district does not bill the developer
until payment is due by your district, we recommend the amounts due
currently and those deferred be charged to separate accounts.
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Records or Information Required.

1. Invoices approved by your district’s engineer specify the part to be paid

by the developer and your district.

2. Engineering estimate specifies the costs to be shared by the developer.

Construction Costs Paid Directly by the Developer
to the Contractor

Reimbursement Paid to Developer by District
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.

7300 Capital Outlay, Bond Issue XX

1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX
Only expenditures of your district should be classified as capital outlay. No

Capital Projects Fund entry is necessary when nonreimbursable construction

is performed by the developer. See Capital Assets—Explanation section on
page C-27 for the appropriate entries.

Construction Costs Paid Directly by District

Accrual of Developer Contribution
Accounting Entries:

Dr. Cr.
1177 Due from Developer—Currently Due XX
1178 Due from Developer—Deferred (Retainage) XX
3956 Developer Contributions XX

The entry above should be performed with the recognition of capital outlay

costs. See Capital Projects Fund—Explanation on page C-17 and Capital
Projects Fund—Contract Payable on page C-18.

Receipt of Cash from Developer
Accounting Entries:

1110 Cash
1177

Dr. Cr.

XX

Due from Developer—Currently Due XX

Capital Projects Fund—Interest Earnings

Explanation. The disposition of interest received by the Capital Projects
Fund is governed by state law and your district’s bond orders. Transfer of
interest on Agency approved bonds to another fund may require application
to and approval by the Agency under Rule 293.83-293.85.

Interest Accrued
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.

1158 Accrued Investment Interest Receivable XX

2740 Interest on Temporary Investments XX
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Interest Received

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX
1158 Accrued Investment Interest Receivable XX

Transfer to Debt Service Fund Upon Agency Approval

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3913 Transferred to Debt Service Fund XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX

Capital Projects and General Funds—Sale of Capital Assets

Accounting Theory. The proceeds from the sale of capital assets should be
deposited into your district’s Capital Projects Fund and used to complete
construction projects. If it is not necessary to use these proceeds to complete
your district’s construction projects, the proceeds may be deposited into the
General Fund and used for operating expenses.

Capital Projects Fund

Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Capital Projects Fund XX
3960 Sale of Capital Assets XX

There will also be a related entry to the Sale or Replacement of Capital
Assets—Capital Assets.

General Fund

Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX
3960 Sale of Capital Assets XX

There will also be a related entry to the Sale or Replacement of Capital
Assets—Capital Assets.

Capital Projects Fund—Costs to be Reimbursed from Future
Bond Sales

Accounting Theory. Costs to be reimbursed to attorneys, engineers,
developers, and contractors from future bond sales, should be recorded unless
the contract or agreement between the parties specifies that reimbursement
is due only upon the sale of bonds.

Liabilities which are due only upon the occurrence of a particular event are
called contingent liabilities. Although these liabilities are not recorded,
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documentation must be kept on these items for audit purposes and for proper
recording upon the occurrence of the contingent event.

All Funds—Closing Entries

To facilitate the performance of the audit, your district’s auditor will prefer
that revenue, expense, and fund balance transactions not be closed to the
balance sheet accounts prior to the audit. Before posting any transactions in
the following fiscal year, these accounts must be closed to the appropriate
fund balance accounts. After closing and any adjusting entries have been
posted, the balance sheet accounts should be reconciled to the audit report.

In amanual system, closing entries can be provided by your district’s auditor.
The workpaper package provided when each audit is completed should
include all appropriate journal entries to close and adjust applicable balances,
so that your district’s records will agree with its audited financial statements.

If a computerized system is used, it may not be possible to make adjustments
to the records of the fiscal year under audit until the audit is completed. Then
your bookkeeper must make corrections to the records in the following fiscal
year’s records.

All Funds—Interfund Loans and Transfers

Accounting Theory. Cash moved between funds and expenses paid by one
fund for another fund should be reported as interfund loans (reimbursable)
if:
1. There is intent to repay the amount, and such intent is documented by
minutes or subsequent repayment.
—AND-
2. The debtor fund has, or is likely to have, adequate resources to repay the
amount within a reasonable time period.

Cash moved to or expenses paid for another fund which do not meet these
criteria should be reported as an interfund transfer.

If the transaction qualifies as a loan, it should be shown as a receivable and
payable on the balance sheet if it is outstanding at year end, and would not
affect the fund balance of either fund.

If the transaction is reported as an interfund transfer, the fund balances of the
funds are affected and no amounts are reported in the balance sheet. If
subsequent repayment is made, it is reported as a contra-transfer.

When one fund pays an expense which should be paid by another fund, the
transaction should be reported as an interfund transfer or loan so that the
expense can be reported in the proper fund.

If the Debt Service or Tax Fund loans money to another fund, then the bond
order provisions (requiring that tax collections be used only for debt service
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and expenses of collection) have been violated. Whether the loan is repaid
within the fiscal year is not relevant.

If the Debt Service or Tax Fund receives money from another fund and then
it repays that loan, the bond order provisions have not been violated.

Records or Information Required:
1. Bond Order
2. Documentation of your Board’s position on loan repayment

General Fund Entry:
Payment Made for Another Fund—Repayment Not Anticipated

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3913 Transferred to Debt Service Fund XX
1110 Cash XX

Debt Service Fund Entry:
Payment Made for Another Fund—Repayment Not Anticipated

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3913 Bond Interest Expense XX
7395 Bond Principal XX
3951 Transferred from General Fund XX

The following entries would be made if the General Fund were to pay the
bond payment for the Debt Service Fund with no repayment to be made by
the Debt Service Fund.

Capital Projects Fund Entry:

Transfer of Funds—Repayment Not Anticipated

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
3913 Transferred to Debt Service Fund XX
1110 Cash—Capital Projects XX

Debt Service Fund Entry:
Transfer of Funds—Repayment Not Anticipated

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash—Debt Service XX
3954 Transferred from Capital Projects Fund XX

These entries would be made when Capital Projects Fund surplus funds are
transferred to the Debt Service Fund after obtaining Agency approval.
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General Fund Entry:

Interfund Loan—Repayment Anticipated—Loan Originated

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1173 Due from Debt Service Fund XX
1110 Cash XX

Debt Service Fund Entry:

Interfund Loan—Repayment Anticipated—Loan Originated

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1100 Cash—Debt Service XX
2171 Due to General Fund XX

General Fund Entry:
Interfund Loan—Repayment Anticipated—Loan Repaid

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1110 Cash XX
1173 Due from Debt Service Fund XX

Debt Service Fund Entry:
Interfund Loan—Repayment Anticipated—Loan Repaid

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2171 Due to General Fund XX
1100 Cash—Debt Service XX

All Funds—Accounts Payable

Explanation. In this section, we assume that your district does not normally
use accounts payable but it records its purchases on a cash basis and makes
its adjustments to accrue accounts at year end to bring the records into
conformity with the modified accrual basis. Thus, accounts payable would
represent the accrued liability for goods or services received during the year
for which payment has not been made as of the end of an accounting period.
This would include amounts not billed to your district on a timely basis.

Accounting Theory. To be on a modified accrual basis, your district must
record all expenses incurred by your district through the district’s fiscal year
end. Your district’s bookkeeper should search your district’s records
subsequent to year end to determine that all significant expense expenditures
have been recorded and to make specific inquiries on work done or services
rendered to your district through the end of the fiscal year (legal fees,
operating fees) which have not been billed timely to your district.

The most practical way for a district to record its accounts payable will be by
utilizing the make and reverse principle. Under this principle, the district’s
accounts payable would be recorded by debiting the district’s expenditure
account and crediting the accounts payable at the district’s fiscal year end for
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the current period. In the following fiscal year, this entry is reversed (the
accounts payable is debited and the expenditure account is credited).

Upon payment, the same expenditure account should be debited for the
disbursement amount. The debit to the expenditure account from cash
disbursements is offset by the credit made when reversing accounts payable,
leaving only the original debit to expense made from the first entry in the
proper fiscal year’s records.

Accrual of Accounts Payable at the End of the Fiscal Year

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
6320 Legal Fees XX
2110 Trade Accounts Payable XX

In the above General Fund example, legal fees incurred by your district in the
fiscal year have not been paid at fiscal year end. It is not relevant whether the
legal fees were billed by the fiscal year end date. The date that the charges
were incurred determines whether the changes relate to the current fiscal year
or a subsequent fiscal year.

Reversal of the Accrual Entry at the Beginning of the Subsequent Year

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2110 Trade Accounts Payable XX
6320 Legal Fees XX

Upon Payment of the Charges

Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
6320 Legal Fees XX
1110 Cash XX

The net effect of the entries above is to record an expenditure in the earlier
fiscal year to reflect when the charges were actually incurred. This method
can be used for the other funds by using the appropriate accounts.

Long-Term Debt—Explanation

Purpose of Fund. This fund is established to report the principal amount of
your district’s general obligation debt due in future years.

Bonds Sold
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
1500 To Be Provided for Bonded Debt XX
2510 Bonds Payable, Series XX

The entry should reflect the total principal amount of bonds issued. Discounts
and/or premiums should not be considered in this entry.
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Related Entries:  Capital Projects Fund—Explanation
Capital Projects Fund—Escrowed Cash
Debt Service Fund—Accrued Interest
Received on Bonds at Date of Sale
Debt Service Fund—Bond interest Reserve

Bonds Paid
Accounting Entries: Dr. Cr.
2510 Bonds Payable, Series XX
2511 Bonds Payable, Series XX
1500 To Be Provided for Bonded Debt XX

Amounts in the entry above should reflect only the principal amounts paid.
There will also be a related entry to the Debt Service Fund—Explanation.

Capital Assets—Explanation

Purpose. Capital Assets account for your district’s facilities (whether
located inside or outside of your district’s boundaries), including tangible
costs (water, wastewater, and drainage systems) and intangible costs (the
district’s organizational costs).

Accounting Theory. All costs related to your district’s organization, the sale
of'bonds or the construction of district-owned facilities should be capitalized.
Legal fees should be capitalized only if they meet these criteria. The
construction period is usually one year from the date of the s